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,1'(3(1'(17�$8',725¶6�5(3257 
To the Shareholders of Batic Investments and Logistics Company                                                      (1/5) 
(Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Batic Investments and Logistics Company �³WKH�
&RPSDQ\´�� DQG� LWV� VXEVLGLDULHV� �WRJHWKHU� WKH� ³*URXS´���ZKLFK� FRPSULVH� WKH� FRQVROLGDWHG� VWDWHPHQW� RI�
financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and 
pronouncements endorsed by Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants 
(SOCPA). 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the $XGLWRU¶V�
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the professional code of conduct and ethics that are endorsed 
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements and 
we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

,1'(3(1'(17�$8',725¶6�5(3257 (CONTINUED) 
To the Shareholders of Batic Investments and Logistics Company                                                   ( 2/5) 
(Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
Key Audit Matters (Continued) 
  

Key Audit Matters  How our audit addressed the key audit matter  

Impairment of goodwill book value 

- As of 31 December 2021, the Group has goodwill 
resulting from previous acquisitions amounted to 31 
December 2021 SR 81.3 million (2020: SR 79.7 
million).  

- According to International Accounting Standard No. 
���³,PSDLUPHQW�RI�JRRGZLOO´�which requires at least 
annually an impairment test for recognized goodwill, 
regardless of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. 

- Goodwill is monitored at the level of the cash-
generating units by determining the recoverable value 
based on the value-in-use derived from the 
discounted cash flow model, which used the most 
recent five-year business plan prepared by the group's 
management. This test did not result in any 
impairment loss that must be proven. 

- The Group's management contracted with an 
independent consultant to test the impairment of 
goodwill. 

 
We considered the impairment of goodwill performed 
E\�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�PDQDJHPHQW�WR�EH�D�NH\�DXGLW�PDWWHU��
Determining the recoverable value of goodwill on the 
basis of value in use is a complex matter and requires an 
important deal of judgment by the management. 
The important judgment components for the 
management valuations are: 

1- Assumptions related to excepted economic 
circumstances and growth special in markets in 
which the Group mainly works in. 

2- Assumptions about the impact of the Group's 
main competitors' actions on the revenue 
assumptions and the total expected profit 
margin. 

3- The revenue growth rate and the final value 
growth rate used in the value-in-use model. 
 

For more details, refer note 9-2 

We obtained the relevant data from the management and 
then external parties, and we also performed the 
following procedures: 

 

- Obtained an understanding of the methodology 
adopted by the management in determining the 
cash-generating unit and existence of 
impairment of goodwill and assessing whether 
this methodology is consistent with the 
requirements of IAS 36 and those used in this 
industry. 

 

- Teat the mathematical accuracy for the model. 
 

- Examine the methodology applied that supports 
the in-use calculations and uses key 
assumptions. 

 

- Assessed the key assumptions used by 
management related to revenue growth rate�� 
gross profit margin, and long-term growth rate�� 
taking into account current and future economic 
conditions of the cash-generating units. We also 
compared the key assumptions to the previous 
factual results� 

- Assessed the reliability of management's 
forecast through a review of actual performance 
against forecasts used by management�� 
 

- Involved our specialists to check the key 
assumptions used by management in calculating 
the value in use. We also conducted the 
sensitivity analysis related to these key 
assumptions� 

- Examine the adequacy of the group's 
disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

,1'(3(1'(17�$8',725¶6�5(3257 (CONTINUED) 
To the Shareholders of Batic Investments and Logistics Company                                                     (3/5) 
(Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
 
Other Information 
 

2WKHU�LQIRUPDWLRQ�FRQVLVWV�RI�WKH�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�*URXS¶V�2021 annual report, other than the 
FRQVROLGDWHG�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DQG�RXU�DXGLWRU¶V�UHSRUW�WKHUHRQ��0DQDJHPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�WKH�RWKHU�
information in its annual report.  
 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to if we read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements  
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and other standards and pronouncements endorsed by SOCPA and Regulations for Companies and 
WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�By Laws and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.  
 
,Q�SUHSDULQJ�WKH�FRQVROLGDWHG�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��PDQDJHPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�*URXS¶V�
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 

7KRVH�FKDUJHG�ZLWK�JRYHUQDQFH�� L�H�� WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��DUH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�RYHUVHHLQJ� WKH�*URXS¶V�
financial reporting process.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
,1'(3(1'(17�$8',725¶6�5(3257 (CONTINUED) 

To the Shareholders of Batic Investments and Logistics Company                                                      (4/5) 
(Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
 

$XGLWRU¶V�5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV�IRU�WKH�$XGLW�RI�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV� 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
ZKROH�DUH�IUHH�IURP�PDWHULDO�PLVVWDWHPHQW��ZKHWKHU�GXH�WR�IUDXG�RU�HUURU�DQG�WR�LVVXH�DQ�DXGLWRU¶V�UHSRUW�
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.  
 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  
 

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control.  

 

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 

x &RQFOXGH�RQ�WKH�DSSURSULDWHQHVV�RI�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�XVH�RI�WKH�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�EDVLV�RI�DFFRXQWLQJ�
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
FRQGLWLRQV�WKDW�PD\�FDVW�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�RQ�WKH�*URXS¶V�DELOity to continue as a going concern. If 
ZH�FRQFOXGH�WKDW�D�PDWHULDO�XQFHUWDLQW\�H[LVWV��ZH�DUH�UHTXLUHG�WR�GUDZ�DWWHQWLRQ�LQ�RXU�DXGLWRU¶V�
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
WKH�GDWH�RI�RXU�DXGLWRU¶V�UHSRUW��+RZHYHU��IXWXUH�HYHQWV�RU�FRQGLWLRQV�PD\�FDXVH�WKH�*URXS�WR�FHDVH�
to continue as a going concern.  

 

x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
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1. Organization and principal activities 

 
Batic Investments DQG�/RJLVWLFV�&RPSDQ\��WKH�³&RPSDQ\´ RU�³%atic´) - a Saudi Joint Stock Company - the previous 
name (Saudi Transport and Investment Company - Mubarrad) was established and registered in Riyadh under Commer-
cial Registration No. 1010052902 on 13, Rabi` Al-Akhir ,1404H corresponding to 16 January 1984. 
 
Based on the approval of the extraordinary general assembly of the shareholders of the company on 6/7/1438H                 
corresponding to 3/4/2017, the second article of the company's by-law has been amended to change the name of the 
company from (Saudi Transport and Investment Company - Mubarrad) to (Batic Investments and Logistics Company). 
 
The principal activities of the company are in the purchase and sale of land and real estate and its division, construc-tion 
of residential buildings and general construction of non-residential buildings, including (schools, hospitals, ho-tels, etc.), 
restoration of residential and non-residential buildings, construction and repair of roads, streets, sidewalks, road accesso-
ries, and finishing buildings. 
 
7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�KHDG�RIILFH�LV�ORFDWHG�LQ�5L\DGK�- Al-Olaya District - Al-Arz Street - PO Box 7939. 
 
The company's financial year begins on the first of January and ends at the end of December of each calendar year. 
 
Share Capital 
 
As at 31 December 2021, The authorized capital of the company is 300 million Saudi Riyals, divided into 30 million 
common shares of equal value and fully paid, and the nominal value of the share is 10 Saudi Riyals. 
 
Group¶V�6WUXFWXUH 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries (collec-
tively referred to as WKH�³*URXS´��DV�IROORZV�������� 

  2021 2020 
 Country of 

Domicile 

% of di-
rect in-

vestment 

% of indi-
rect in-

vestment 

% of direct 
investment 

% of indi-
rect invest-

ment 
Arab Security & Safety Services 
Company (AMNCO) Saudi Arabia �����% � 94.88%  -  

Saudi Transport and Investment 
Company ± Mubarrad Saudi Arabia ���% � 100%  -  

Batic Real Estate Saudi Arabia ���% � 100%  -  
Abeen Healthcare (Previously re-
ferred to as Al-Shifa Medical tech-
nology Company) 

Saudi Arabia ���% � 60%  -  

AMNCO Facility Management Co. 
Ltd. Saudi Arabia � �����%  -  66.42% 

Smart Cities ICT Solutions Com-
pany Saudi Arabia ��.8% ����%  -  38.50% 

Response Indicators Communica-
tions Company Saudi Arabia � �����%  -   -  

Medical Bridges Company Saudi Arabia � ��%  -   -  
 
2. Basis of preparation 
 
2-1 Statement of compliance  
 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards that 
are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and other standards and pronouncements endorsed by the Saudi 
Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA). 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
2-2 Basis of measurement 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss measured at fair value and employees benefit which is measured at present 
value of defined benefit obligations using the Projected Unit Credit Method.  
 
2-3 Functional and presentation currency  
 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals, which is the functional currency of the Group. 
All financial information presented in SR has been rounded off to the nearest Saudi Riyal (SR), unless otherwise stated.  
 
3. New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 
 
A number of new amendments to standards, enlisted below, are effective this year but they do not have a material effect 
RQ�WKH�*URXSV¶�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV��H[FHSW�IRU�ZHUH�UHIHUHQFHG�EHORZ� 
 
3-1 New amendments to standards issued and applied effective 1 January 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to standard Description 

Effective for      
annual years      

beginning on or 
after 

Summary of the amendment 

IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 4 
And IAS 16 

Adjustments to the Standard 
Interest Rate - Stage 2 January 1, 2021 

These amendments modify specific re-
quirements on hedge accounting to al-
low hedge accounting for the affected 
hedge to continue during the uncer-
tainty period before the hedging items 
or hedging instruments affected by cur-
rent interest rate standards are modified 
as a result of the current interest rate 
benchmark reforms. The amendments 
also introduce new disclosure require-
ments to IFRS 7 for hedging relation-
ships that are subject to the exceptions 
made by the amendments to IFRS 9. 

IFRS 16 
Amendments to IFRS 16 
Lease - COVID-19 Related 
Lease Concessions 

April 1, 2021 

This amendment extends the exemption 
from assessing whether a COVID-19 
related lease concession is an adjust-
ment to payments originally due for a 
lease on or before 30 June 2022 (instead 
of a payment due on or before 30 June 
2021). 
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3. New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (continued) 

3-2 New standards, amendments and revised IFRS issued but not yet effective   

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs and amendments to IFRS that have been issued but 
are not yet effective. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amendments to 
standard Description 

Effective for annual 
years beginning on or 

after 
Summary of the amendment 

IAS 37 
Loss-laden contracts 
± the cost of 
fulfilling the contract 

January 1, 2022 

The amendments specify that the "cost of 
performing" a contract includes costs directly related 
to the contract. These amendments apply to contracts 
in which the company has not fulfilled all its 
obligations, starting from the first period in which the 
company applies that amendment. 

IFRS 16, IFRS 9, IAS 
41 and IFRS 1 

Annual Amendments 
to International 
Financial Reporting 
Standards 2018-2020 

January 1, 2022 

IFRS 16: The amendment removes the clarification of 
recompensation to pay for leasehold improvements. 
,)56����7KH�DPHQGPHQW�FODULILHV�WKDW�ZKHQ�WKH�³���
SHUFHQW´� WHVW� LV� DSSOLHG� WR� DVVHVV� ZKHWKHU� WR�
derecognise a financial liability, an entity includes 
only fees paid or received between the entity (the 
borrower) and the lender. The amendment shall apply 
prospectively to adjustments and exchanges that 
occur on or after the date on which the entity first 
applies the amendment. IAS 41: The amendment 
removes the requirement of IAS 41 for entities to 
exclude tax cash flows when measuring fair value. 
IFRS 1: The amendment provides an additional 
exemption for a subsidiary to become applicable for 
the first time after the parent company in relation to 
accounting for cumulative translation differences. 

IAS 16 
Property, plant and 
equipment - proceeds 
before intended use 

January 1, 2022 

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of 
any item of property, plant and equipment any 
proceeds from the sale of items produced before that 
asset is available for use. In addition, the amendments 
also clarify the meaning of "testing whether an asset 
is working properly". 

IFRS 3 
Financial Report 
Concepts Framework January 1, 2022 

The amendment as a whole has been updated to IFRS 
3 to refer to the conceptual framework of 2018 instead 
of the framework of 1989. 

IFRS 17 

Insurance contracts 

January 1, 2023 

This new accounting standard is comprehensive for 
insurance contracts that covers recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once in 
force, IFRS 17 (along with its subsequent 
amendments) will replace IFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. 
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3. New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (continued) 

3-2 New standards, amendments and revised IFRS issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 
Management expects that interpretations and amendments to these new standards will be applied in the Group financial 
statements when applicable, and the application of these interpretations and amendments may not have any material 
impact on the Group's financial statements in the initial application period. 
 
4. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Group to use certain estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, and the accompanying disclosures of contingent liabili-
ties. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable in the circumstances, and whose results form the basis of to make judgments about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The revision of accounting estimates is charged 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and the future periods affected. 
 
4-1 Impact of Covid-19 
 
Since the beginning of the year 2020, the Corona pandemic (Covid-19) has spread globally across different geographical 
areas, causing business and economic activities to be disrupted. It is concluded that as of the date of issuance of these 
consolidated financial statements, there are no significant changes in the key judgments and estimates, and the Group is 
monitoring the ever-evolving scenarios and any change in the key judgments and estimates will be reflected as part of the 
operating results and cash flows for future reporting periods. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to 
standard Description 

Effective for 
annual years 

beginning on or 
after 

Summary of the amendment 

IAS 1 
Classification of 
liabilities as current 
or non-current 

January 1, 2023 

The amendment clarifies what is meant by the right to 
defer settlement, that the right to deferment must exist 
at the end of the reporting period, and that this 
classification is not affected by the possibility that the 
entity will exercise its right to defer only if it includes 
the derivatives in a convertible liability that is itself an 
equity instrument and will not The terms of 
commitment affect its rating. 

IAS 1 and Practice 
Statement 2 

Disclosure of 
accounting policies January 1, 2023 

This amendment deals with assisting entities in 
determining the accounting policies that must be 
disclosed in the financial statements. 

IAS 8 
Modification of 
accounting estimate 
definition 

January 1, 2023 
These amendments to the definition of accounting 
estimates help organizations distinguish between 
accounting policies and accounting estimates. 

IAS 12 Income Taxes January 1, 2023 
This amendment addresses clarification regarding 
deferred tax accounting for transactions such as leases 
and decommissioning obligations. 

Amendment to IFRS 
10 and IAS 28 

Sale or contribution 
of assets between an 
investor and a 
partner or joint 
venture 

do not apply 

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with 
situations in which there is a sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains 
or losses result from the loss of control over a 
subsidiary. 
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4. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
4-2 Going concern 
 
The Group's management has made an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant dRXEW�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ��
Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
4-3 Impairment test on goodwill book value 
 
The Group tests the goodwill assessment to determine its exposure to any impairment on an annual basis. The Group's 
management contracted with an independent consultant to test the impairment of goodwill by determining the recoverable 
value of the goodwill on the basis of the value in use of the cash-generating unit associated with the goodwill. This 
determination of the recoverable amount requires the use of assumptions based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the group and which are believed to be 
reasonable under the surrounding circumstances. Elements of significant judgments and assumptions include the follow-
ing: 
 
x Cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management. 
x Assumptions related to the expected economic conditions, especially growth in the markets in which the Group 

primarily operates. 
x Assumptions about the impact of the Group's main competitors' actions on the revenue assumptions and the expected 

gross margin. 
x The revenue growth rate and the terminal value growth rate used in the value in use model. 

 
4-4 Estimating the residual values and useful lives of property and equipment 
 
The company relies in determining the useful lives of property and equipment on historical experience with property and 
equipment with the same specifications and characteristics, as well as on the nature of the intended use of the asset. The 
estimate of the residual value of property and equipment depends on the sale prices of similar property and equipment 
that are fully depreciated by the company in an active market for remaining assets as they are considered insignificant. 
 
4-5 The useful lives of intangible assets 
 
The company includes its intangible assets, excluding goodwill, at cost, net of accumulated amortization and impairment 
losses. Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives. Determining the useful lives of intangible assets requires 
the use of assumptions about the method on which the company will rely on recording the assets. These assumptions are 
based on historical experience, the contractual terms of the agreements related to intangible assets, and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the company and which are believed to be 
reasonable under the surrounding circumstances. The main assumption on which management has based its estimates of 
the useful lives of the assets is the potential for renewal of the related contracts and future management plans. 
 
4-6 Actuarial evaluation of the employees' end of service benefits obligations 
 
The cost of the employees' end of service benefit compensation obligation is determined under the unfunded defined 
benefit program measured using the actuarial valuation. An actuarial valuation includes many assumptions that may differ 
from actual developments in the future. These assumptions include determining the discount rate, future salary increases, 
and employee turnover. Given the complexity of valuation and its long-term nature, the unfunded defined reward obliga-
tion is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. Therefore, all assumptions are reviewed once a year when nec-
essary. International Accountant Standard No. (19) requires the use of actuarial assumptions to measure the liability for 
end-of-service benefits (end-of-service benefits provision), which is considered a defined benefit obligation. These as-
sumptions include company management estimates of variables such as final salaries that will be used as the basis for 
calculating end of service benefits. The company has prepared these actuarial assumptions by involving an independent 
actuary based on the best estimate of the firm's management of these variables. 
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4. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 

4-7 Fair value measurement 
 
The fair value measurement is the price received from if an assets was sold, or paid if a liability was transferred through 
a regular transaction between the dealers in the market at the date of measurement in the regular market conditions re-
garding if the price is noticeable directly or estimated using another evaluation method.  
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either: 
 
- Through the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
- Through the most advantageous market for the asset or liability in the absence of the main market. 
 
The principal market (or the most advantageous market) should be available to the company on the measurement date. 
 
The fair value of the asset or liability is measured according to the assumptions that market participants use when pricing 
the asset or liability on the assumption that market participants act in order to achieve the best economic benefit for them. 
With regard to non-financial assets (investment real estate), this measurement takes into account the ability of market 
participants to generate economic benefits by using the asset to achieve the best benefit from it or by selling it to another 
market party to use it in a way that achieves the best benefit from it. 
 
The company uses valuation methods appropriate to the circumstances and those methods for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value so that appropriate inputs that can be monitored and observed and the use of inputs that 
cannot be monitored and observed. 
 
All assets and liabilities that are either measured at fair value or their fair value are disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorized according to a hierarchy of levels of fair value measurement, set out below based on the lowest 
level of measurement entry that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 
 
The inputs used in the fair value measurement techniques are categorized according to the hierarchy below: 
 
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) and traded prices in active markets for assets or liabilities identical to those being measured. 
Level 2: Inputs that can be observed or monitored for the asset or liability, directly or indirectly, other than the published 
prices included in the first level. 
Level 3: Inputs that cannot be observed or observed for the asset or liability. 
 
4-8 Expected credit losses provision on trade receivables 
 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the expected credit losses for its trade receivables. The provision record 
is initially based on the Group's historical observable default rates. The Group evaluates the matrix to adjust past credit 
loss experience with future information At each reporting date the observed default rates are updated, and changes in 
future estimates are analyzed. 
The assessment of the relationship between historical and observed default rates and expected economic conditions and 
expected credit losses is a substantial estimate The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes in expected economic condi-
tions and conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and expectations of economic conditions may not be 
representative of future customer defaults. Note 13 discloses information about the expected credit loss of the Group's 
trade receivables 
 
4-9 Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position 
cannot be measured on the basis of quoted prices in active markets, the fair value is determined using valuation methods 
including the discounted cash flow model. Inputs into these models are taken from observable markets where possible, 
and when this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required to determine fair values. Estimates include considerations 
of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and price risk. Factors that may affect the reported fair value of financial 
instruments The contingent consideration arising from a business combination is assessed at fair value at the acquisition 
date as part of a business combination when the contingent consideration meets the definition of a financial liability It is 
subsequently re-measured at fair value at each reporting date based on the determination of fair value To discounted cash 
flows, the key assumptions take into account the probability of achieving each performance objective and the discount 
factor. 
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4. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
4-10 Provisions  
 
A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the amount thereof can be made. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the liability. Unwind of discount is recognized as a finance cost. 
 
4-11 Discount rate to calculate present value 
 
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each entity, taking into account the time 
value of money and the individual risks of the underlying underlying assets that have not been incorporated into the cash 
flow estimates. Considering both debt and equity the cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment by 
the entity's investors The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing loans that the entity is obligated to provide Adjust-
ments are made to the discount rate to take into account the exact amount and timing of future tax flows in order to reflect 
the rate Pre-tax/zakat deduction. 
 

5. Significant accounting policies  

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are listed below. These policies 
have been consistently applied throughout the year presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
Accordingly, comprises the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities that 
are controlled by the company. Control is achieved when the company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifi-
cally, the Company controls an investee, if and only if, the Company has all of the following: 
 
��3RZHU�RYHU�WKH�LQYHVWHH��L�H��H[LVWLQJ�ULJKWV�WKDW�JLYH�LW�WKH�FXUUHQW�DELOLW\�WR�GLUHFW�WKH�UHOHYDQW�DFWLYLWLHV�RI�WKH�LQYestee. 
��([SRVXUH�RU�ULJKWV�WR�variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 
��7KH�DELOLW\�WR�H[HUFLVH�LWV�SRZHU�RYHU�WKH�LQYHVWHH�WR�LQIOXHQFH�LWV�UHWXUQV� 
 
Generally, there is an assumption that the majority of voting rights result in control. In support of this assumption, when 
the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company considers all relevant 
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 
 
��7KH�FRQWUDFWXDO�DUUDQJHPHQW�V��ZLWK�the other vote holders of the investee. 
��5LJKWV�DULVLQJ�IURP�RWKHU�FRQWUDFWXDO�DUUDQJHPHQWV�ZKLFK�JUDQW�WKH�SDUHQW�FRPSDQ\�WKH�DELOLW\�WR�GLUHFW�WKH�UHOHYDQW�
activities. 
��7KH�&RPSDQ\¶V�YRWLQJ�ULJKWV�DQG�DQ\�SRWHQWLDO�YRWLQJ�ULJKWV� 
 
The Company re-assesses whether it has control over an investee, if the facts and circumstances indicate any changes in 
one or more of the three control elements. The consolidation of the subsidiary begins from the date when the Company 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses its control over the subsidiary. 
 
The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of a subsidiary acquired during the year are recognized in the consolidated 
Financial Statements from the date the Company obtains control until such control ceases to exist. 
 
Gains or losses and each of the other comprehensive income items are attributed to the shareholders of the parent company 
and the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the Financial Statements of the subsidiaries to make their accounting policies 
FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV��$OO�DVVHWV��OLDELOLWLHV�HTXLW\��UHYHQXHV��H[SHQVHV�DQG�FDVK�IORZV�UHODWHG 
to intra-company transactions are entirely eliminated upon consolidation of the Financial Statements. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 
&KDQJHV�LQ�&RPSDQ\¶V�RZQHUVKLS�LQWHUHVWV�LQ�DQ\�VXEVLGLDU\�WKDW�GR�QRW� result in loss of control are treated as equity 
transactions. 
 
According to the sale and purchase agreements signed between Batic Investments and Logistics and some of the owners 
of Smart Cities Solutions for Communications and Information Technology (a subsidiary company), the details of which 
are as follows: 
 

- On May 1, 2021, an agreement was signed to buy and sell shares between Batic Investment and Logistics Com-
pany and Smart Parking Holding Company, according to which Batic will purchase 35.8% of the shares of Smart 
Parking Holding Company in the capital of Smart City Solutions for Communications and Information Tech-
nology (a subsidiary company). ) In exchange for a cash amount of 107,874,812 Riyals, and on October 3, 2021 
AD, the purchase process was completed and the shares were transferred to BATIC. 

 
- On October 3, 2021, an agreement was signed to buy and sell stakes between Batic Investment and Logistics 

Company and Hazoon Holding Company, according to which Batic will purchase 2% of Hazoon Holding Com-
SDQ\¶V�VKDUHV�LQ�WKH�FDSLWDO�RI�6PDUW�&LWLHV�6ROXWLRQV�IRU�&RPPXQLFDWLRQV�DQG�,QIRUPDWLRQ�7HFKQRORJ\��D�VXE�
sidiary) in return for cash amounted to 6,000,000 Saudi Riyals, and on October 3, 2021, the purchase process 
was completed and the shares were transferred to BATIC. 

 
,Q� DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK� WKH� UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI� ,QWHUQDWLRQDO�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUWLQJ�6WDQGDUG�1R�� ����� ³&RQVROLGDWHG�)LQDQFLDO  
6WDWHPHQWV´�SDUDJUDSKV����DQG�SDUDJUDSK�%�����ZKLFK�VWDWHV� 
 

- 3DUDJUDSK�1R������³&KDQJHV�LQ�WKH�SDUHQW�HQWLW\¶V�RZQHUVKLS�LQWHUHVW�LQ�D�VXEVLGLDU\�HQWLW\�WKDW�GR�QRW�UHVXOW�LQ�
the parent entity losing control of the subsidiary entity are equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in 
WKHLU�FDSDFLW\�DV�RZQHUV��´ 

 
- Paragraph B 96: When the proportion of equity held by the non-controlling interests changes, the entity must 

adjust the carrying amounts of the non-controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect the effect of changes 
in their relative interests in the subsidiary, and the entity must recognize directly in equity, i.e. The difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 
paid or received and attributed to the owners of the parent entity. 

 
Subtracting the aforementioned amounts from the book values of these controlling interests resulted in differences of 
122,747,412 Riyals, which were recognized in the consolidated equity. 
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-con-
trolling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any 
investment retained is recognized at fair value. Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are all companies controlled by the Group. The group controls an entity when the group has rights or variable 
returns as a result of its participation in the entity in addition to its ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are discon-
tinued from the date that control ceases. 
 
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to calculate business combinations entered into by the Group. The 
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabil-
ities incurred, and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
 
The consideration includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are initially measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recog-
nizes, on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any interest other than controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair 
value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Any consideration likely to be transferred by the Group is recorded at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration to be classified as assets or liabilities in accordance with the 
UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI�,)56���³)LQDQFLDO�,QVWUXPHQWV´�DUH�FDOFXODWHG�HLWKHU�LQ�WKH�SURILW�RU�ORVV�DFFRXQW�RU�FKDUJHG�WR�RWKHU�
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified under equity is not remeasured and its subsequent 
settlement is recognized in equity. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred over the value of the non-controlling interest in the acquired company and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous ownership interests in the acquired company over the fair value of the group's 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is included under goodwill. In the event that the sum of the transferred con-
sideration, the imputed non-controlling interest and the imputed interest previously owned is less than the fair value of 
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired through a swap purchase agreement, the difference is calculated directly in the 
profit and loss in the statement of consolidated comprehensive income. 
 
Disposed transactions on consolidating Financial Statements 
 
All internal transactions, balances and unrealized profits on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unre-
alized losses are also eliminated. The amounts reported by the subsidiaries, where applicable, have been adjusted to 
conform to the Group's accounting policies. 
 
Classification of current and non-current items 
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification. An asset is current when it is: 
 

� Expected�to�be�realized�or�intended�to�be�sold�or�consumed�in�the�normal�operating�cycle; 
� It�is�held�primarily�for�the�purpose�of�trading; 
� Expected�to�be�realized�within�twelve�months�after�the�reporting�period��or 
� Cash�or�cash�equivalent�unless�restricted�from�being�exchanged�or�used�to�settle�a�liability�for�at�least�twelve�

months�after�the�reporting�period. 
 
All other assets are classified as non-current Assets. 
 
A liability is current when: 
 

� HUDWLQJ�F\FOH,W�LV�H[SHFWHG�WR�EH�VHWWOHG�LQ�WKH�QRUPDO�RS ; 
� ,W�LV�KHOG�SULPDULO\�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�WUDGLQJ; 
� ,W�LV�GXH�WR�EH�VHWWOHG�ZLWKLQ�WZHOYH�PRQWKV�DIWHU�WKH�UHSRUWLQJ�SHULRG��RU  
� 7KHUH�LV�QR�XQFRQGLWLRQDO�ULJKW�WR�GHIHU�WKH�VHWWOHPHQW�RI�WKH�OLDELOLW\�IRU�DW�OHDVW�WZHOYH�PRQWKV�DIWHU UHSRUWLQJWKH��

SHULRG. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses in the accumulated 
value (if any). The cost includes all costs directly associated with creating or acquiring the asset on site and in the condi-
tion necessary for it to be intended for use for its intended purpose. Significant portions of property and equipment are 
depreciated separately from other parts. 
 
When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized within the carrying amount of an item of property and 
equipment as a replacement if the criteria for evidence in the consolidated financial statements are satisfied. Other mainte-
nance and repair costs are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over its expected useful life at rates calculated to reduce the cost 
of the asset down to its estimated residual value as follows: 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Property and equipment (continued) 

  
 Years 
Buildings and construction 20 
Locomotives, trailers and auto refrigeration units and cars 4-15 
Prefabricated workshops and homes equipment 6.5-20 
PODQW�DQG�HTXLSPHQW¶V 5 
Furniture � 

 
The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed, and adjusted if necessary, at the end of each reporting 
period, when the carrying amount of the asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is directly reduced to 
the recoverable amount. 
 
Profits and losses resulting from disposal operations are determined by comparing the returns with the book value, and it 
is calculated under (other income / expenses - net) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Capital work in progress is shown at cost and includes property and equipment being developed for future use. When it 
is ready for use, it is transferred to the appropriate category and depreciation is calculated on it according to the company's 
policy. 
 
Relationships with clients are established by continuous communication and prior transactions between the acquirer and 
its customers, and its value is determined. 
 
Investment properties 
 
Investment properties are non-current assets held either to earn rental income or capital appreciation or both, but not for 
sale in context of normal operations, or their use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 
purposes. Real estate investment is measured at cost upon initial recognition thereafter, at cost less accumulated depreci-
ation and impairment losses, if any. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when sold or occupied by the owner or if they are not held for an increase in their 
value. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
The intangible assets whose useful life is defined and which have been acquired separately are shown at cost less accu-
mulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Any changes in estimates on a prospective basis. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives that have been acquired separately are shown at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. 
 
Intangible assets are derecognized when they are disposed of or when it is anticipated that no future economic benefits 
will arise from their use or disposal. The gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized. 
 
Smart Parking Franchise 
 
The Group's operations in relation to the smart parking project are carried out under long-term concession arrangements. 
The Group recognizes concession rights in project parking lots resulting from the franchise service arrangement, which 
LV�XQGHU� WKH�FRQWURO�RI� WKH�SXEOLF�VHFWRU� �WKH�³JUDQWRU´��RU�UHJXODWHV� WKH�VHUYLFHV�SURYLGHG�DQG�IL[HG�SULFHV�DV�ZHOO�DV�
FRQWUROV�DQ\�VLJQLILFDQW�UHPDLQLQJ�LQWHUHVW�LQ�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH�VXFK�DV�SURSHUW\�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�LQ�WKH�FDVH�RI�WKH�JUDQWRU¶V�
infrastructure or created or purchased by the Group as part of a franchise service arrangement. 
 
The Group recognizes an intangible asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it has a right to benefit 
from the concession infrastructure usage fees. Intangible assets received as consideration for the provision of construction 
or development services in a service concession arrangement are measured at fair value on initial recognition by reference 
to the fair value of the services. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Smart Parking Franchise (continued) 
 
The parking concession rights include all costs incurred in connection with the parking lot. Port concession rights also 
include certain property, plant and equipment that are classified as intangible assets in accordance with the interpretation 
of IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements. The intangible in service concession arrangements is the period during 
which the Group is able to charge the public for the use of smart parking until the end of the concession term of 25 years 
or for the life of the underlying assets ± whichever is shorter. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the increase in the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the company's share of the identifiable 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired on the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized, but it is subject to an annual or shorter impairment check if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential decline in value. Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Gains and losses arising from the disposal of any entity include the carrying value of the goodwill 
related to the entities sold. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units for the purpose of assessing impairment. The allocation is made to 
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination that 
creates the goodwill. Units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level through which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management reporting. 
 
Trademark 
 
A trade name consists of the value of the trademarks acquired through the business combination process. This value is 
determined by calculating the present value of the future economic benefits expected to arise from the use of these trade-
marks in the market. The commercial name of the subsidiary is expected to be used over a period of 20 years, and therefore 
this trade name is subsequently included at cost after deducting the accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Technology and systems 
 
The technology consists of the suite of systems and devices used to increase security and positioning systems acquired 
through the business combination process. These costs are amortized over the period during which the company is ex-
pected to use the technology, which is estimated at a period of 5 years. Therefore, the technology is subsequently included 
at cost after deducting the accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Relationship with clients 
 
Relationships with clients are established by continuous communication and prior transactions between the acquirer and 
its customers. Its value is determined by calculating the present value of the future economic benefits that are expected 
to arise from these relationships. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over the 
estimated useful lives of eight years. 
 
Unfinished business 
 
Relationships with clients also arise through work-in-progress and unfinished business contracted on the date of the ac-
quisition. Its value is determined by calculating the present value of the future economic benefits that are expected to 
arise from these relationships. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the costs over the 
estimated useful lives of 44 months. 
 
Projects under progress 
 
Projects under progress are recorded at cost. Cost includes all direct expenditures related to bringing the asset to a condi-
tion that allows it to be used for its intended purpose. The project under construction is transferred to real estate, machinery 
and equipment when it is completed and ready for its intended use. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Group as a lessee 
 
The company evaluates whether the contract contains a lease at the beginning of the contract. The company recognizes 
the right-of-use principal and the corresponding lease liability in respect of all lease agreements in which the company is 
the lessee, with the exception of short-term leases (which are recognized as leases of 12 months or less) and leases for 
low-value assets. For these leases, the company recognizes lease payments as operating expenses on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the contract unless there is another regular basis more representative of the time pattern in which the 
economic benefits from the leased asset are exhausted. 
 
Right of use assets and lease liabilities 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not paid on the commencement date, 
discounted using the rate implicit in the lease agreement. If this rate cannot be easily determined, the company uses an 
implicit interest rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability include the following: 
 
x Fixed rental payments (including fixed principal payments), less any rental incentives. 
x Variable rental payments that are index or price dependent, initially measured using the index or price at the start date, 
x The amount expected to be payable by the tenant under residual value guarantees, 
x The price of executing purchase options, if the tenant is reasonably sure to exercise those options, and 
x Pay fines to terminate the lease, if the lease agreement demonstrates the exercise of the option to terminate the lease 
 
The lease liability is presented in a separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest on the lease liability 
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 
 
The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes the corresponding adjustment to the related right-to-use asset) 
whenever: 
 
x The terms of the lease have changed or there has been a change in the evaluation of the purchase option exercise, in 

which case the lease liability is remeasured by deducting the revised lease payments using a modified discount rate. 
x The lease payments have changed due to changes in an index or price or a change in the expected payment according 

to the guaranteed residual value, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by deducting the adjusted lease pay-
ments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change due to a change in the prevailing interest rate, 
in this case a modified discount rate is used.) 

x The lease has been amended and the lease amendment is not accounted for as a separate lease contract, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured by deducting the revised lease payments using a modified discount rate. 

 
The company has not made any such adjustments during the periods presented. 
 
Group as a lessor 
 
When the Group is the lessor, it determines at the lease inception date whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating 
lease. In order to classify each lease, the Group assesses whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the underlying assets. In this case, the lease is finance, otherwise it is classified as an operating lease. 
When the Group is an intermediary lessor, its rights in the main lease are accounted for separately from the sub-lease. It 
classifies a sub-lease in view of the right of use arising from the main lease rather than in relation to the underlying assets. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. The initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
For contracts that have a lease component and a non-lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the con-
tract by applying IFRS 15. The Group also applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to lease 
receivables financing. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Right of use assets 
 
It includes the right to use the initial measurement assets for the corresponding rental obligation, lease payments made 
on or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. It is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Right-to-use assets are depreciated over the lease term and the useful life of the main asset, whichever is shorter. If the 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-to-use asset shows that the company expects to 
exercise the purchase option, the relevant right-to-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 
Depreciation starts on the date of the commencement of the rental. 
 
The Group applies International Accounting Standard No. (36), impairment of assets value, to determine whether there 
has been any decline in the value of the right to use assets. 
 
Variable lease payments 
 
In the case of lease contracts that contain variable payments related to the use or performance of the leased assets, these 
payments are recognized in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. 
 
Extension and termination options 
 
When determining the term of the lease, management takes into account all facts and circumstances that create an eco-
nomic incentive to exercise the option of extension, or not to exercise the option of termination. Extension options or 
post-termination options are included in the lease term only if the extension or non-termination of the lease is reasonably 
certain. The Company evaluates whether it is reasonably certain to exercise extension options when evaluating the lease. 
The Company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise options if there is a material event or change of 
circumstances within the limits of control. 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower cost and net realizable value, and the cost is determined on a weighted average basis. 
It includes the expenses incurred in acquiring the inventory and bringing it to its present location and condition. The net 
selling value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the applicable variable selling 
expenses. 
 
Inventory is reduced to net realizable value or a provision is made for obsolescence in the event of any change in the 
pattern of use or physical appearance of the relevant stock. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Assets that do not have a specific useful life such as goodwill are not subject to amortization. Rather, they are examined 
annually for impairment in their value. At the date of each financial position statement, a determination is made whether 
there are any indications of a decline in the value of non-financial assets. In the event that there are indicators in relation 
to an asset, or when an annual impairment test is required, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount (recoverable 
value) and assesses it for goodwill (if any) annually. The recoverable amount is determined from the asset alone, or from 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs if the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent 
of the flows from other assets or groups of assets. The recoverable amount is measured as (a) the fair value of the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) minus the costs of disposal, or (b) the asset's use-of-value (that is, the present value of the future 
cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset or cash-generating unit) whichever is greater. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to the recoverable amount only when the recoverable amount of the asset is less than it carrying 
amount, and that reduction is considered an impairment. An impairment is recognized immediately in profit or loss. An 
estimate is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that the previously recognized impair-
ment losses no longer exist or that the value of these losses has decreased.  
 

An impairment recognized in prior periods for a single asset or cash-generating unit is reversed only when there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the asset or generation unit since the last impair-
ment loss was evidenced. Where, in this case, the carrying amount is increased to the recoverable amount, and if the 
reversal of the impairment relates to a single asset, the carrying amount that would have been determined should not 
increase if a loss was not proven in previous years. A reversal of an impairment is recognized as income in the consoli-
dated statement of comprehensive income for the financial period in which it occurs. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contracts that give rise to the financial assets of one entity and financial liabilities or equity 
instruments of another entity. 
 
The group recognizes its financial assets and financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position only 
when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets 
 
When a company acquires a financial asset, the financial asset is classified at amortized cost or at FVTOCI or FVTPL on 
the basis of both (a) the business model for managing a group of financial assets and (b) the contractual cash flow char-
acteristics of the financial asset.  
 
Initial measurement of the financial asset 
 
A financial asset is measured on initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, with the exception of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair value without adding transaction costs. 
 
$PRXQWV�UHFHLYDEOH�IURP�WUDGH�GHEWRUV�DUH�PHDVXUHG�DW�WKHLU�WUDQVDFWLRQ�SULFH��DV�SHU�WKH�GHILQLWLRQ�LQ�,)56����³5HYHQXH�
IURP�&RQWUDFWV�ZLWK�&OLHQWV´�LI�WKH�DPRXQWV�GXH�IURP�FRPPHUFLDO�GHEWRUV�GR�QRW�LQFOXGH�D�significant financing compo-
nent in accordance with IFRS 15. 
 
Subsequent measurement of the financial asset 
 
After initial recognition, the Group makes the subsequent measurement of the financial assets based on the classification 
of the financial assets as follows: 
 
- $W�DPRUWL]HG�FRVW�XVLQJ�WKH�HIIHFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�PHWKRG��LI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�JRDO�LV�WR�PDLQWDLQ�D�JURXS�RI�ILQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�

to collect contractual cash flows on specific dates, which are only payments from the principal amount and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding. 

- $W�IDLU�YDOXH�WKURXJK�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH��LI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�JRDO�LV�WR�PDLQWDLQ�D�JURXS�RI�ILQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�
to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets, and that the contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specific dates to cash flows that are - only - payments from the principal amount and interest on the original 
outstanding amount. 

- At fair value through other comprehensive income, if the company used this measurement option available in IFRS 
9 Financial Instruments in relation to equity instruments. Subsequent changes in the fair value as well as the gains / 
(losses) on sale are recognized in other comprehensive income. The resulting dividends are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

 
Derecognition of the financial asset 
 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when: 
 
- The expiration of contractual rights to cash flows from the financial asset, or 
- Transferring contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset and transferring approximately all risks 

of ownership of the financial asset, or 
- Retaining contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset while incurring a contractual obligation to 

pay cash flows to one or more recipients and transferring nearly all the risks of ownership of the financial asset, or 
- Transferring the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset without transferring, nor keeping 

nearly all the risks of ownership of the financial asset if it has not retained control over the financial asset. or 
- Maintaining the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset, bearing a contractual obligation to 

pay cash flows to one or more recipients without transfer, nor keeping nearly all the risks of ownership of the financial 
asset if it has not maintained control over the financial asset. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Derecognition of the financial asset (continued) 
 
When a financial asset is derecognized in its entirety, the difference between the book value on the date of the derecog-
nition and the compensation / consideration received (including any new asset that was acquired minus any new obligation 
charged) is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group evaluates the expected credit losses related to its financial assets on a prospective basis. The impairment 
method applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 
 
With regard to trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by the International Financial Re-
porting Standard (9), which requires that expected losses to be recognized over the life of these receivables as of their 
initial recognition. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Group classifies all financial liabilities that are measured subsequently at amortized cost. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognizes the financial liability (or part of the financial liability) from its consolidated statement of finan-
cial position when it is amortized; That is when the specified liability in the contract is paid, canceled or expired. 
 
Amortized cost of the financial asset or liability 
 
The amount by which a financial asset or liability is measured upon initial recognition minus payments of the principal 
amount, plus or minus the accumulated amortization using the effective interest method for any difference between that 
initial amount and the amount on the maturity date. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks, funds and investments with maturities of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
Employee end of service obligation benefits 
 
Employees end of service obligation is a compensation obligation that is paid to employees after the end of their services. 
According to the Saudi Labor Law, the company makes payments to employees upon the end of their services, which are 
usually based on years of service, salary and the reason for termination of service. The liabilities recognized in the con-
solidated statement of financial position in relation to the end of service benefit are the present value of the defined benefit 
liability at the end of the financial reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by management 
using the projected unit credit method. 
 
The current service cost of the defined benefit list recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is 
included in the employee benefit expense, unless it is included in the cost of the asset, and reflects the increase in the 
GHILQHG�EHQHILW�REOLJDWLRQ�UHVXOWLQJ�IURP�WKH�HPSOR\HH¶V�VHUYLFH�LQ�WKH�FXUUHQW�\HDU�DQG�FDVHV�RI�FKDQJH��UHGXFWLRQ�DQG�
settlement of benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BATIC INVESTMENTS AND LOGISTICS COMPANY  
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts in Saudi Riyals) 
 

20 
 

5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Employee end of service obligation benefits (continued) 
 
Past service costs are recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The present value 
of defined benefit liabilities is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using rates of return on 
corporate bonds with a high credit rating, valuated in the currency in which the benefits are paid and which have deposits 
that approximate the related benefit liabilities. In the absence of a wide market for these companies, government bond 
market prices will be applied. Actuarial gains or losses arising from prior adjustments and changes in actuarial assump-
tions are charged and recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
occur. 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits that are expected to be fully settled within twelve months after the 
end of the annual financial reporting period in which employees provide the service to which they relate. Amounts (not 
deducted) for the service provided by the employee to the company during an accounting period are included as an ex-
pense and the related liability (expense due) is measured by the undiscounted amount of the employee's short-term ben-
efits expected to be paid in exchange for the services provided by the employee. 
 
The obligation relating to expected benefit payments is recognized when there is a present statutory or implied obligation 
for the group to make such payments as a result of previous services provided by the employee and that an estimate can 
be made that can be relied upon for the obligation. 
 
Borrowings and borrowing costs 
 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and then subsequently recognized at 
amortized cost with amortizing any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the recovered value in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowing using the effective commission 
method. 
 
Fees paid to enter into borrowing facilities are accounted for as transaction costs of the loan, provided there is a possibility 
that some or all of the facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the withdrawal occurs. In the 
event that there is no evidence that some or all of the facilities may be withdrawn, the fees are capitalized and recorded 
in the advance payments for liquidity services, and they are amortized over the period of the facilities related to them. 
 
Finance costs mainly represent expenses payable on borrowings obtained from financial institutions at normal commercial 
rates, and are recorded in expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they 
are incurred. 
 
Borrowing costs directly related to the acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalized 
during the period of time required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All borrowing costs are recog-
nized in expense on a time proportion basis using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Borrowings are classified within current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to postpone the settle-
ment of the obligation for a period of not less than twelve months after the date of the consolidated financial position. 
 
Accruals and other credit balances 
 
Other credit balances are obligations to pay suppliers' dues, employee benefits, and other receivables. Other payables are 
classified as current liabilities if these receivables are due within one year or less. Otherwise, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. Financial liabilities included in accounts payable and other liabilities are recognized initially at fair 
value and subsequently at amortized cost. The fair values of the Company's payables equal their amortized cost when 
they are proceeded in one year or less. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the group has liabilities (legal or contractual) at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date arising from past events and the repayment of the liabilities is likely to result in an outflow of economic 
benefits and their value can be measured reliably. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that obligation. 
 
Value add Tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized after deducting VAT, except for: 
 
x When the VAT incurred in connection with the purchase of assets or services is non-refundable from GAZT, in this 

case, WKH�WUDQVDFWLRQ�WD[�LV�UHFRJQL]HG�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�FRVW�RI�SXUFKDVLQJ�WKH�DVVHW�RU�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�H[SHQVH¶V�LWHPV��
where applicable; and 

x Receivables and payables that are included with the transaction tax amount. 
x The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, GAZT and income is included as part of receivables or 

payables in the consolidated statement of financial position.  
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue is recognized according to the five step inputs: 
 
First step: Defining the group for the contract with the client in the following cases: 

x The contract and commitments have been approved by the parties 
x Defining every party right 
x Definition payment terms 
x The contract has a commercial content. And 
x Collectability 

Second step:  The group identifies all goods or services promised in the contract and determines whether to account for 
each promised good or service as a separate performance obligation. 
The good or service is considered distinct and is separated from the other obligations in the contract if both 
of them are: 
x The customer can benefit from the good or service separately or with other resources that are readily 

available to the customer. And 
x The good or service is defined separately from the other goods or services included in the contract. 

Third step: The group determines the transaction price, which is the consideration amount it expects in exchange for 
transporting promised goods or services to a customer. 

Fourth step: The transaction price is allocated in an arrangement for each independent performance obligation based on 
the relative independent selling prices of the goods or services provided to the customer. 

Fifth step: Revenue is recognized when control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The group 
transfers a good or service when the customer obtains control of that good or service. A customer obtains 
control over a good or service if he has the ability to direct the use and entitlement of the benefit from the 
good or service. In the comparison period, revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be measured reliably, regardless of when the 
payment was received. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, 
subject to contractually defined payment terms and the exclusion of taxes or fees. The company concluded 
that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements, has price freedom and is susceptible to inventory 
and credit risk. Dividend income is recognized when the company's right to receive dividends from its 
various investments can be demonstrated. This is usually achieved when the shareholders have formally 
approved a dividend. Revenue consists of the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from 
the sale of goods and services in the normal course of business of the group's activities. Revenue is reported 
net of returns, discounts and discounts. The company records revenue when the value of the revenue can 
be measured reliably, and it is probable that future economic returns will flow to the group, and when 
VSHFLILF�FULWHULD�DUH�PHW�IRU�HDFK�RI�WKH�JURXS¶V�DFWLYLWLHV��DV�VKRZQ�EHORZ��7KH�DPRXQW�RI�UHYHQXH�LV�QRW�
considered reliably measurable until all contingent liabilities associated with the sale have been settled. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Revenue from providing services 
 
Revenue from providing services is recognized in the accounting period in which the group provides the agreed services 
to its customers. Revenue is calculated for fixed-value and incomplete contracts at the end of the period in proportion to 
the service provided until the end of the period from the total service agreed upon in the contract. 
 
Real estate segment revenue 
 
Revenue from the real estate segment includes income from rental, property management and property sales. 
 
Real estate rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. When the group 
provides a discount on the rent as an incentive to its clients, whether at the beginning or the end of the period, the cost of 
this discount is distributed in a straight-line method over the contract period and deducted from the rental income. Real 
estate management revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which the service is provided to its clients. In the 
event that the group acts as a middleman, only the commission value is recognized as revenue and not the total contract 
value. 
 
Construction, equipping and operating services revenue 
 
Revenue relating to construction and fit-out services under service concession arrangements is recognized over time in 
line with the Group's accounting policy for construction contract revenue recognition. Operational or service revenue is 
recognized in the period in which the services are provided by the Group. If the service concession arrangement contains 
more than one performance obligation, then the consideration is allocated to a recipient by reference to the relative inde-
pendent selling prices of the services provided. 
 
Dividend income 
 
Dividend income is recognized when the company's right to receive dividends from its various investments can be rec-
ognized. This is usually achieved when the shareholders have formally approved a dividend. 
 
Cost revenue  
 
The cost of revenue includes all direct operating expenses related to transportation and the generation of transport reve-
nues, including the costs of services from external sources (security, maintenance, repair, leasing services ... etc.) and the 
costs of the security guards Segment, feeding ATMs, transferring money, counting money, maintenance and operation, 
fuel, oils, labor, rental of means of transport and work places and depreciation of the transportation fleet, insurance, and 
all other direct expenses. Other operating expenses are considered general and administrative expenses. 
 
Expenses 
 
General and administrative expenses include direct and indirect expenses that are not directly related to the costs of the 
services presented. And it is distributed, if necessary, between general and administrative expenses, cost of services and 
other expenses on a fixed basis. 
 
Finance costs and finance income 
 
Finance costs directly attributable to the purchase, construction or production of an asset that requires a significant period 
of time to be ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset and all other borrowing costs 
are expensed in the period in which they occur. Finance costs consist of interest expenses on loans, bank facilities and 
lease liabilities. Finance income consists of interest income on the money invested. Interest income is recognized as it 
accrues in the consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Zakat provision 
 
Zakat provision is calculated annually in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Zakat, Tax and Customs 
Authority regulations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Any amendments that may occur upon the final assessment of 
Zakat are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the final assessment is 
received, in which case the provision is settled. 
 
Value added tax 
 
Expenses and assets are recognized after deducting the amount of value added tax, unless the value added tax incurred 
on the purchase of assets or services is not refundable, then the value added tax is recorded as part of the cost of acquiring 
the assets or as part of the expense item as applicable. 
 
Share earnings 
 
The company presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by 
dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders in the company based on the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average 
number of shares existing equity to demonstrate the conversion effects of all potentially diluted ordinary shares. The 
company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary shares. 
 
Segment Reporting 
 
A business segment is a group of assets, operations or entities: 
��3DUWLFLSDWHV�LQ�EXVLQHVV�DFWLYLWLHV�WKDW�PD\�JHQHUDWH�revenues for him and incur expenses, including revenues and ex-
penses related to operations with other elements of the group, 
��7KH�UHVXOWV�RI�LWV�RSHUDWLRQV�DUH�DQDO\]HG�RQ�DQ�RQJRLQJ�EDVLV�E\�WKH�FKLHI�RSHUDWLQJ�GHFLVLRQ�PDNHU�LQ�RUGHU�WR�PDNH�
decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment, and 
��)RU�ZKLFK�ILQDQFLDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LV�DYDLODEOH�LQGHSHQGHQWO\ 
 
Includes Segment results reported to the chief operating decision-maker that include items directly attributable to a Seg-
ment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 
 
A geographical Segment is a group of assets, operations or entities engaged in income-producing activities within a spe-
cific economic environment that are subject to risks and returns different from those operating in other economic envi-
ronments. 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on its products and services and has nine 
Segments that can be reported as follows: 
 
��5HDO�(VWDWH�,QYHVWPHQW�segment 
��/DQG�7UDQVSRUW segment 
��6HFXULW\�JXDUGV�segment 
��$70�)HHGLQJ�segment 
��,QVXUHG�PRQH\�WUDQVIHU�segment, counting and sorting of money and correspondence 
��0DLQWHQDQFH�DQG�2SHUDWLRQ�segment 
��0HGLFDO�(TXLSPHQW�6XSSO\�segment 
��+RPH�PHGLFDO�VHUYLFHV�DQG�SK\VLRWKHUDS\�segment 
��6PDUW�3DUNLQJ�Segment 
 
Statutory reserve 
 
In line with the requirements of the Companies Law and the FRPSDQ\¶V�E\-law, (10%) of the annual net profits is set 
aside to form the statutory reserve for the company. It is permissible to discontinue this reserve when the aforementioned 
reserve reaches (30%) of the paid-up capital. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Operation in foreign currencies   
 
Transactions in foreign currencies were converted into the currency of the activity using the exchange rates prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions or valuation when re-measuring. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the set-
tlement of these transactions and the transfer of assets and liabilities are also calculated. In foreign currencies, at the rates 
prevailing at the end of the year, through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income under 
(other income / (expenses), net. 
 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
Any obligations that may arise from past events and whose existence is only confirmed by the occurrence or non-occur-
rence of one or more future events that are not asserted that is not within the group's full control, or a current obligation 
that is not recorded because it is unlikely that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. In the event 
that the amount of the obligation is not able to be measured with sufficient reliability, it is not included among the con-
tingent liabilities, but rather disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
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6. Property and equipment, net 
 

 

 
 

Lands* 

Buildings, 
decoration 

Tracks, trailers 
cooling unit and 

cars 

:RUNVKRS¶V�
equipment and 

containers 

Machinery, 
equipment and 

security 

 
Furniture and 

office equipment 

 
 

2021 

 
 

2020 
Cost         
1 January ���������� ���������� ����������� ��������� ���������� ����������  �����������  ����������� 
Additions� � ������ ������ � ������ ������ ������� � 
Transferred assets acquisition � ������ ���������  ������ ���������  �������  ���������  ���������� 
Transferred from investment 
properties ��������� ��������� � � � � ��������� � 

Disposals �����������  �����������  �����������  � ���������  ���������  ������������  �����������  
31 December  ���������� ���������� ���������80 ��������� ���������� ���������2 �����������  ����������� 
         
Accumulated depreciation         
1 January � ��������� ����������� ��������� ��������� ���������� ����������� ����������� 
Charged on the year � ��������� ���������� ������� ��������� ��������� ����������  ���������� 
Disposals � �����������  �����������  ���  ���������  ���������  �����������  �����������  
31 December � ��������� ����������� ��������� ��������� ���������� ����������� ����������� 
         
Net book value         
As at 31 December 2021 ���������� ��������� ����������  ��������� ��������� ����������  �����������  � 
As at 31 December 2020 46,915,531 9,503,194 118,106,153 3,252,146 6,607,096 13,781,521 � ����������� 
 
* Includes mortgaged lands for some local banks (note 15) 
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7. Right of use assets, net 
 

 2021  2020 
Cost     
1 January ��,706,862  ��������� 
Additions� 5,795,377  ���������  
31 December  17,502,239  ���������� 
Accumulated depreciation    
1 January �����������   �����������  
Charged for the year �����������   �����������  
31 December  (7,071,380)  �����������  
Net book value    
31 December ����������   ���������  

 
8. Investment property, net 
 
Investment property consists of lands and buildings designated for investment and leasing them mainly to others, and the 
movement was as follows: 
 

 2021  2020 
1 January ����������  42,047,900 
Additions �  326,815 
Transferred to property and equipment �����������   � 
31 December ����������  42,374,715 

 
Accumulated depreciation ����  ���� 
1 January �����������   (643,555) 
Charged during the year ���������   (494,971) 
31 December �����������   (1,138,526) 
Net book value 38,310,853  41,236,189 

 
The net book value of the investment properties as on December 31, 2021 amounted to SAR 38,310,853 (December 31, 
2020: 41,236,189 SAR), and the investment properties in Riyadh and Jeddah were evaluated by a qualified and independ-
ent expert as on January 31, 2021 as shown below: 
 

Description  Net book value Fair value Notes 
Investment properties in Riyadh ± (lands, 
buildings and fixtures) 32,547,172 ���������� Mortgaged to a lo-

cal bank ± note 15 
Investment properties in Jeddah ± (lands) 22,397,263 ����������  
Contribution in land northeast Jeddah 2,000,000 **  

 
* The real estate evaluation mechanism applied in evaluating investment properties is in line with the International Val-
uation Standards Board and with the directives of the Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuers "Taqeem". 
 
The following are the real estate evaluator data: 
 

Name�  Ejadah real estate valuation 
Qualification  Membership of the Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuers 
Valuation license No.  ������������ 

 
** Investment properties amount of 2,000,000 Saudi Riyals represented in contribution in the land of North-East Jeddah 
in an investment in lands with another party under a contract. The company received a letter from the Real Estate Con-
tribution Committee No. 2009 dated 8/6/1443H stating that the committee is still working on liquidating the contribution 
through the execution court to collect the amount of the bond for the order submitted by the buyer of the land at a value 
higher than the cost price, and the situation remains as it is until the date of these consolidated financial statements. 
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9. Intangible assets  
 
Intangible assets consist of the following: 
 

 2021  2020 
    
Smart parking concession rights (Note 9-1) �����������  ����������� 
Other intangible assets (Note 9-2) ����������  ����������  
Ending balance 31 December ����������2  �����������  

 
9-1 Smart parking franchise rights 
 
The following is the movement of the smart parking Service Concession Arrangement 
 

 
��7KH�DPRUWL]DWLRQ�H[SHQVH�KDV�EHHQ�charged to the cost of revenue 
 

 

Equipment and 
supplies 

 Service con-
cession ar-
rangements 

  
2021 
Total 

 
 

2020 
Total 

Cost        
1 January 21,273,241  206,371,578  227,644,819  - 
Additions 27,829,77�  144,934,282  172,764,05�  227,644,819 
31 December 4�,103,01�  351,305,860  400,408,87�  227,644,819 
        
Amortization        
1 January 161,653  1,364,76�  1,526,41�  - 
charged for the year 1,713,115  8,392,834  10,105,949  1,526,41� 
31 December 1,874,768  9,757,59�  11,632,36�  1,526,41� 
Net book value        
31 December 2021 4�,228,24�  341,548,26�  38�,776,5��  - 
31 December 2020       226,118,403 
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9. Intangible assets, net (continued) 
 
9-2 Other intangible assets, net 
 
 Goodwill Trademark  Revenues from       

continuing contracts  
Current FXVWRPHU¶V 

database 
Technology and 

systems 2021 2020 
        
Cost        
1 January ���������� ��������� ��������� ��������� ���������� ����������� ����������� 
Addition of transferred assets 
(Acquisition) - - - - 3,304 3,304 - 

Additions during the year �,524,718 - - - 25,000 1,549,718 ������� 
31 December �����0,427 ��������� ��������� ��������� 13,462,206 �����������  ����������� 
        
Impairment / amortization        
1 January ��������� ������� ��������� ��������� ���������� ���������� ���������� 
Amortization during the year - ������� - ������� ������� ��������� ��������� 
31 December ��������� ������� ��������� ��������� ���������� ���������� ���������� 
Net book value        
31 December 2021 ���������� ��������� - ������� ��������� ���������� � 
31 December 2020 ���������� ��������� � ������� ��������� � ����������  
 
Technology and systems include projects under implementation whose balance amounted to Nil Saudi Riyals as on December 31, 2021 (2020: 723,979 Saudi Riyals) 
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9. Intangible assets, net (continued) 
 
9-2 Other intangible assets, net (continued) 
 
Impairment test on goodwill 
 
,QWHUQDWLRQDO�$FFRXQWLQJ�6WDQGDUG������³,PSDLUPHQW�RI�AVVHWV´�UHTXLUHV�WKDW� WKH�LPSDLUPHQW�WHVW�IRU�JRRGZLOO�EH�SHUIRUPHG�RQ�DQ�DQQXDO�EDVLV�UHJDUGOHVV�RI�ZKHWKHU�WKHUH�LV�DQ\�
indication of impairment of goodwill or not. The Group annually conducts an impairment test in the value of goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Batic of the subsidiary company 
of the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO) of the subsidiary company of the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO), which amounted to 
70,067,220 Saudi Riyals as of December 31, 2020. Also, the goodwill resulting from the acquisition by the subsidiary, the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO), 
of AMNCO Facilities Management Company Ltd. (formerly: Al-Hikma Company for Commercial and Industrial Investment) amounting to 8,178,489 Saudi Riyals as of December 
31, 2020. The group considered the two aforementioned companies as cash generating units in their own right, and all goodwill was allocated to the cash generating units in accordance 
with the International Accounting Standard (36). 
 
On July 23, 2017, the subsidiary company, AMNCO, acquired 70% of the Al-Hikma Company for Commercial and Industrial Investment which resulted in 9,678,489 Saudi Riyal the 
goodwill balance in the consolidated financial statements of the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO) after the impaired in the value of the goodwill Goodwill 
as of December 31, 2018: 8,178,489 Saudi Riyals, and it has been included in the intangible assets of the group. Whereas, during the year 2018, the impairment in the value of goodwill 
resulted in a decrease in the value of goodwill for the cash-generating units of SAR 1,500,000. 
 
The recoverable amount is determined on the basis of the information used in the projected business plans for the five-year period following the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the cash flows related thereto, and impairment is tested on the basis of the value of the future cash flows for a period of five years based on reasonable and objective 
assumptions to estimate the cash flow according to the latest approved budgets. of management 
 
During the year 2021 and 2020, there were no impairment losses in the book value of the goodwill as at the end of the financial report. 
 
 
The following are the key assumptions used in estimating the recoverable amount 
 

 2021  2020 
    

Discount rate �����%  �����% 
Growth rate ���%  ���% 
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10. Financial investments at FVPL 
 
10-1 Long term financial investments  
 

Cost 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
6KDUHV�LQ�³7UXck-LQ´�FRPSDQ\ 1,742,704  1,742,704 
United Company for Dairy Farms 300,000  300,000 
 2,042,704  2,042,704 

 
The investment made during the year 2018 is represents in the purchase of 22,675 shares of "Trukkin" company, where 
the percentage of investment in the company reached 21.50%. The company classifies the investment as a financial in-
vestment at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
The Board of Directors of "Truck-in " company decided on February 6, 2019, and the partners' agreement on October 9, 
2019 to increase the capital of the investee company by an amount of USD 3,500,000, (equivalent to Saudi Riyals  
13,125,000) so that as of December 31, 2019, the investment in the company became 13.28% for 1,672,916.67 shares. 
During the year 2020, the company increased its shares by 78,989 shares, at a value of SAR 147,529. 
 
The cost price has been adopted as the management does not have the inputs required by the use of valuation approaches 
(level one and level two) based on the market value, and the management has found that the discounted cash flow ap-
proach or the replacement cost approach may result in a fair value that cannot be relied upon. Accordingly, the manage-
ment has adopted the cost price of the investment, and the management does not expect the existence of a impairment in 
the value of the investment. 
 
The management has approved the cost price of the investment in the United for Dairy Farms Company due to the lack 
of fair value for this investment, and the management expects that there is no impairment in the investment value. 
 
10-2 Short-term financial investments at FVTPL 
 
These investments represent the value of the investment portfolio managed by Alistithmar Capital. The short-term invest-
ment has been classified at fair value through profit or loss because the company holds it for sale in the short term, with 
the unrealized gain or loss from revaluation of the portfolio being included in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
11. Advances to purchase property and equipment 
 
The advance payments for the purchase of property and equipment are represented in the contract for the supply of decoats 
to BATIC Company, amounting to 6,900 Saudi Riyals, and the contract for the supply of office furniture to Al-Shifa 
Technology Company, amounting to 4,386 Saudi Riyals during the year 2021 (2020: zero Saudi Riyals). 
 
12. Inventory 
 
The inventory represents the supplies related to the services from the group's sectors as follows: 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
WorkHUV¶ clothes and uniforms ���������  ��������� 
Electronic locks for automated teller machines ���������  ��������� 
Money transfer and automated teller machine supplies and equipment ���������  ��������� 
Fleet maintenance parts and supplies �������  ��������� 
Medical Supplies ������  ������ 
 ���������  ��������� 
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13. Trade receivables and other debit balances, net 
 
13-1 Trade receivables 
 
 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Trade receivables �����������  182,408,646 
Expected credit loss allowance on trade receivables ( Note 13-1-1 ) ������������   (21,634,486) 
Trade receivables, net �����������  160,774,160 
 

��7UDGH�UHFHLYDEOHV�DUH�QRW�LQWHUHVW�EHDULQJ�DQG�DUH�JHQHUDOO\�GXH�within 30-90 working days. 

��2QH�RI�WKH�JURXS
V�VXEVLGLDULHV�KDV�D�PRUWJDJH�JXDUDQWHH��ZKLFK�LV�DQ�DSDUWPHQW�EXLOGLQJ�UHWDLQHG�E\�WKH�VXEVLGLDU\�
company as a guarantee for part of the commercial indebtedness of one of its clients. 
 
13-1-1 The movement for expected credit losses provision of trade receivables was as follows: 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
1 January ����������  8,133,010 
(Reversed) / charged during the year �����������   13,501,476 
Written off during the year �����������    - 
Used from the provision -  - 
31 December ����������  21,634,486 

 
13-1-2 Below is an analysis of the aging of receivables and credit risks 
 

31 December 
2021� Total Current� 0-90 Days� 91-180 Days 181-270 Days� 360-271 Days More than 

360 Days 
� � � � � � � �

Book value 164,003,989 41,867,763 44,315,092� 41,389,104 4,273,137 10,026,111� 22,132,782 
Expected 
credit losses� 11,329,863 276,924 391,947� 832,613� 515,242� 1,766,809� 7,546,328�

Expected 
credit loss 
rate�

7%� 1%� 1%� 1%� 12%� 18%� 34%�

 
31 December 

2020� Total Current� 0-90 Days� 91-180 Days 181-270 Days� 360-271 Days More than 
360 Days 

� � � � � � � �
Book value 182,408,646 ���������� 80,300,828� 22,264,633 7,205,617 8,572,492� 47,052,673 
Expected 
credit losses� ���������� ����� 1,173,836� 487,488� 493,947� 1,181,143� 18,289,487�

Expected 
credit loss 
rate�

���� -� ��� ��� ��� ���� ����

 
13-2 Prepaid expenses and other debit balances 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
Custody Receivable  ����������  28,881,161 
Retention  ���������  10,771,653 
Letters of guarantees insurance ���������  8,373,340 
Prepaid expenses ����������  28,386,639 
Advance payment to suppliers ���������  1,328,356 
Other debit balance  ����������  16,751,313 
Total ����������  94,492,462 
Expected credit loss allowance on other debit balances ������������   (26,820,542) 
Total other debit balances, net ����������  67,671,920 
 



BATIC INVESTMENTS AND LOGISTICS COMPANY  
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 
(Amounts in Saudi Riyals) 
 

32 

13. Trade receivables and other debit balances, net (continued) 
 
13-2 Other debit balances (continued) 
 
* The majority of money changers' receivables are receivables for more than one year, and the management creates a 
provision for them according to the ages of those balances using previous collection practices. 
 
** Other debit balances include amounts paid to the Ministry of Interior for violations, the majority of which are carried 
over from the previous year, and the management forms a provision for them in light of the ages of those receivables 
and the previous collections practices. 
 
The movement in the expected credit losses provision of other debit balances was as follows: 
 

 
31 December 

2021  31 December 
2020 

    
1 January ����������  23,887,272 
Charged during the year ���������  4,250,000 
Used during the year ���������   (1,316,730) 
31 December ����������  26,820,542 

 
Management believes that the overdue balances are not impaired and are still fully recoverable based on past payment 
behaviour and comprehensive analysis. The customer's credit risk, including the customer's basic credit ratings and pre-
vious dealings. The group has calculated the provisions ratios estimated for each (period of time / category of clients), 
according to the simplified expected credit loss approach contained in IFRS 9. 
 
14. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
31 December 

2021  31 December 
2020 

    
Cash at banks ����������  55,333,570 
Cash on hand 2,529,998  580,505 
Petty Cash �  2,581 
 ����������  55,916,656 

15. Loans 
 
Short-term Loans 
 
A) On 5/1/2020, BATIC Investment and Logistics Company signed a short-term credit facility agreement under the 
Islamic Tawarruq system with a local bank, ending on 1/5/2023, and the maximum agreement is 20 million Saudi Riyals, 
and it is used to finance working capital requirements, and the facilities are secured by a mortgaged real estate for the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�ODQG�RQ�5L\DGK�- Al-Kharj Road under deed No. 711524003191. The balance of the facilities as on December 
31, 2021 is 6,000,000 Riyals due to be paid on April 03, 2022. 
 
B) On July 28, 2021, BATIC Investment and Logistics Company signed a short-term credit facility agreement under the 
Islamic Tawarruq system with one of the local banks and expires on July 27, 2022, and the maximum amount of the 
agreement is 140,000,000 Riyals, with the guarantee of a waiver in favor of the bank of the proceeds of offering priority 
rights and a promissory note of 140,000,000 Saudi Riyals with the aim of financing the purchase of shares of Smart Cities 
Solutions for Communications and Information Technology and financing capital and operational expenses. On Decem-
ber 31, 2021, the company used 140,000,000 Saudi Riyals and paid the full value of the facilities on January 13, 2022. 

 
C) On 5/9/2019, the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO) signed a credit facility agreement under 
the Islamic Tawarruq system with a local bank, with a maximum amount of 55 million Riyals, and the terms and condi-
tions for using the credit facilities are as follows:  
 

- Murabaha to finance the purchase and sale of goods to refinance letters of credit through the bank. 
- Short-term Murabaha financing the purchase and sale of commodities to finance working capital requirements. 
- Guarantee facilities for the issuance of primary guarantees / performance guarantees / payment guarantees for 

the benefit of beneficiaries acceptable to the bank. 
- The company used an amount of 30,570,164 Saudi Riyals to finance the working capital requirements, and 30 

million Riyals were paid during 2021, and the rest is due for payment during the first quarter of the year 2022. 
The agreement was renewed with a maximum of 30 million Saudi Riyals for the agreement and ends on Sep-
tember 30, 2022. 
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15. Loans (continued) 
 
Short-term Loans (continued) 
 
D) On December 8, 2019, the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO) signed a credit facility agree-
ment with a local bank, with a maximum amount of 80 million Riyals, and the terms and conditions for using the credit 
facilities are as follows: 
 

- General facilities, including guarantee facilities for the issuance of guarantees with a maximum of 10 million 
Saudi Riyals, and short-term loan facilities with a maximum of 5 million Saudi Riyals to finance working 
capital. 

- Specific facilities, including payment guarantees of a maximum of 25 million Saudi Riyals, for the Dammam 
parking project. 

- Specific facilities including payment guarantees of a maximum of 40 million Saudi Riyals for the Khobar 
parking project. 

 
The company used an amount of 5,000,000 Saudi Riyals to finance the working capital requirements, and the payment 
was made during the third quarter of the year 2021. 
 
E) On October 17, 2019, the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services (AMNCO), which is a partner, signed a 
long-term financing DJUHHPHQW�³7DZDUUXT´�DQG�JXDUDQWHHV�DQG�KHGJLQJ� LQ�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK� WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI� ,VODPLF�
Sharia, with a total amount of 74 million Saudi Riyals, and a financing period of 7 years, with the purpose of financing 
investment in a project Smart Parking in the Eastern Province of Smart Cities Solutions for Communications and Infor-
mation Technology (a subsidiary company). On December 3, 2019, an agreement was signed to transfer the agreement 
and its terms, obligations and clauses to Smart Cities Solutions for Communications and Information Technology. (It is 
paid semi-annually after the lapse of an availability period of one year from the date of the letter of offer of the facility 
dated October 17, 2019 and the lapse of a grace period of one year) On the date of December 30, 2021 AD, the terms of 
the agreement were renewed by transferring all existing credit facilities granted to the Arab Company for Services Secu-
rity and Safety is a subsidiary company (the debtor) to the Batic Investment and Logistics Company (the new debtor), 
after transferring 35% of the shares of the Smart Cities Solutions Company from AMNCO to the Batic Investment and 
Logistics Company. 
 
Long-term Loans 
 
A) BATIC Investment and Logistics Company signed a fixed-term securitization credit facility agreement with a local 

bank on 12/18/2018, and this agreement ends on 12/31/2023, amounting to 34,000,000 Saudi Riyals to finance the 
purchase of real estate representing administrative offices in the city of Riyadh. Using part of it as the main center 
of the group. Until December 31, 2021, the company used the total amount from the financing agreement, and the 
financing is repaid in semi-annual installments for a period of 4 years. The loan is secured by a real estate mortgage, 
a promissory note amounting to 34,000,000 Saudi Riyals and a guarantee signed by the Arab Company for Security 
and Safety Services (AMNCO) - a subsidiary and a legal assignment in favor of the Bank by the Arab Company for 
Security and Safety Services (AMNCO) - a subsidiary of the rental proceeds of the property being financed and an 
insurance policy In which the bank will be the first beneficiary, the balance of the facilities as on December 31, 
2021 amounted to 23,800,000 Saudi Riyals. 

 
B) The Saudi Transport and Investment Company - Mubarrad (a subsidiary company) signed a credit facility agreement 

under the Islamic Tawarruq system with a local bank on 11/3/2018 AD and this agreement ends on 11/6/2023 AD 
LQ�RUGHU�WR�ILQDQFH�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�RSHUDWLRQDO�RSHUDWLRQV�ZLWK�D�PD[LPXP�RI����PLOOLRQ�Saudi Riyals Until Decem-
ber 31, 2021, the company used an amount of 14,820,616 Saudi Riyals from the financing agreement for the purpose 
of purchasing refrigerated trailers used in the operational process, and the financing is paid in quarterly installments 
for a period of 5 years. 

 
C) The Saudi Transport and Investment Company - Mubarrad (a subsidiary company) and on March 17, 2020, a credit 

facility agreement was signed with a local bank under the Islamic Tawarruq system. Saudi and until December 31, 
2021 AD, the company has used an amount of 20,887,773 Riyals, and the financing is repaid in quarterly install-
ments for a period of 5 years. 
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15. Loans (continued) 
 
Long-term Loans (continued) 
 
The loans include financial covenants and the Group has complied with these covenants. 
 
The following is the movement of loans during the year: 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
Balance at the beginning of the year �����������  75,655,839 
Additions during the year ���,060,175  85,448,454 
Eligible finance charges 3,265,732  - 
Paid during the year (69,821,394)  (7,746,994) 
Total loan value ���,861,812  153,357,299 
Deduct: deferred finance value (2,606,165)  (3,318,202) 
Net loan value �����������  150,039,097 
Non-current value ����������  94,144,894 
Current value �����������  55,894,203 

 
The following is the loan maturity schedule as in: 
 

 31 December 2021  31 December 2020 
    
During one year �����������   55,894,203  
Between one year to two years ����������   14,190,025  
Between two years to 5 years  ����������   79,954,869  
Total �����������   150,039,097  

 
16. Employees end of service benefit obligation 
 

 2021  2020 
    
1 January ��,984,568  38,127,823 
Current service cost and interest cost ��,811,594  9,926,534 
Carried forward balances from the acquisition of a subsidiary 88,360  - 
Actuarial losses �,135,872  2,902,511 
Paid during the year ������������   (14,972,299) 
31 December ��,371,043  35,984,569 

 
Significant actuarial assumptions endorsed 
 

 2021  2020 
    
Average discount rate used for the Group ����%  2.10% 
Company salary increase rate (Batic) ����%  2.50% 
Subsidiary salary increases rate (Mubrrad) ����%  1.30% 
Subsidiary salary increases rate (AMANCO) 2.05%  1.50% 
Subsidiary salary increases rate (Appean Healthcare) 2.85%  3.10% 
Subsidiary salary increases rate (Cities Solutions) 2.50%  - 
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16. Employees end of service benefit obligation (continued) 
 
The following is an analysis of the sensitivity to the employee benefit liability balance of key assumptions while main-
taining the other assumptions as at December 31, 2021: 
 

Discount rate 
Arab Security and 
Safety Services - 

AMNCO 

Batic for In-
vestments 

and logistics 

Saudi company 
for Transport 

and Investment - 
Mubrad 

Smart Cities 
ICT Solu-
tions Com-

pany 

Appean 
healthcare Total 

+ 0.50 �̃  28,676,799 1,593,141 ��������� ������� ������ ���������� 
- 0.50 �̃  30,357,026 1,773,686 ��������� ������� ������ ���������� 

Expected salary 
increase rate       

+ 0.50 �̃  30,352,682 1,773,212 ��������� ������� ������ ���������� 
- 0.50 �̃  28,672,900 1,592,735 ��������� ������� ������ ���������� 

 
The following is an analysis of the sensitivity to the employee benefit liability balance of key assumptions while main-
taining the other assumptions As on December 31, 2020: 
 

Discount rate 
Arab Security and 
Safety Services ± 

AMNCO 

Batic for In-
vestments 

and logistics 

Saudi company 
for Transport 

and Investment - 
Mubrad 

Al Shifa 
Technology Total 

+ 0.50 �̃  28,560,862 ������� ��������� ����� ��,���,��� 
- 0.50 �̃  ������������  ���������  �����������  ��������  ������������  
Expected salary 
increase rate      

+ 0.50 �̃  ���������� ������� ��������� ������ ���������� 
- 0.50 �̃  ������������  ���������  �����������  �������  ������������  

 
17. Notes Payable 
 

 2021  2020 
Current portion  ���������  4,748,400 
Non-current portion ���������  8,309,700 
 ���������  13,058,100 

 
18. Shareholders accruals 
 

 2021  2020 
Creditor of surplus subscription  ���������  1,293,050 
Dividends payable ����������  15,713,381 
Fractional Capital Reduction ���������  1,887,502 
 ����������  18,893,933 

 
19. Lease liabilities 
 

 2021  2020 
Liabilities against finance lease �,985,690  ��������� 
Additions during the year 5,795,377  4,002,499 
Charged interest during the year (Note 28) ���,947  ������� 
Paid during the year (3,899,240)  �����������  
Ending balance, divided to: ����������   ���������  
Long-term lease liabilities ���������   ��������� 
Short-term lease liabilities ���������  ��������� 

 
�
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19. Lease liabilities (continued) 

The following are the actions for accruing obligations under lease contracts 

31Decamber 2020� 31 December 2021  
����

���������  ���������One year 
���������� ����������From one to five years 

�� ��More than Five years 

Amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss 

For the year ended at 
31 December 2020� For the year ended at 

31 December 2021  

����
�������  ��������Interest on lease liabilities 

���������� ����������Depreciation expenses 
 

Amounts recognized in the statement of Cash flow 

2020� 2021  
����
�����������  ������������Payment of lease liabilities 
� � 

The Group also has certain lease contracts with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases with a low value for these 
leases. For these leases, the Group recognizes lease payments as operating expenses on a straight line basis over the term 
of the lease. 

 
20. Trade payables and other credit balance 
 

Trade payables 2021  2020 
Assets suppliers ���������  311,128 
Tiers suppliers ���������  1,116,926 
Services suppliers ���������  6,054,541 
Spare parts suppliers ���������  1,723,017 
Fuels suppliers  ���������  3,098,525 
Other suppliers  ���������  543,330 
 ����������  12,847,467 
� 
  
Other credit balance 2021  2020 
Employees benefits ����������  17,284,593 
Accrued expenses ����������  8,368,085 
Accrued insurance expenses ������  - 
Legal cases provision   502,500 
Insurance for others  �������  1,358,460 
Other ���������   5,381,523 
Total ����������   32,895,161 
Total other payables and other credit balance ����������   45,742,628 
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21. Zakat provision 
 
A) Zakat status 
 
The Group committed to submit separately its zakat returns until the end of the year ended on 31/12/2020 and obtained 
the final zakat certificate valid until April 30, 2021, with the exception of what is mentioned below, and the zakat position 
was as follows: 
 
Batic Investments and Logistics  
 
The company committed to submitting its zakat returns until the year ended on 31/12/2020, and the company submitted 
a consolidated statement for the year 2020 AD with its subsidiaries (the Saudi Transport and Investment Company 
³0XEDUUDG´�DQG�WKH�%DWLc Real Estate Company), and the company obtained a final certificate valid until 30/4/2022. 
 
The company obtained zakat assessments for the financial years from 2008 to 2014. The assessment and objection file 
were closed, and the company paid the due zakat differences. 
 
The company obtained the zakat assessment for the year 2018 on December 31, 2020, according to which the company 
was entitled to a zakat difference of 39,879 Saudi Riyals. The company agreed to this assessment and paid the due zakat. 
 
On October 21, 2020, the company was issued a zakat assessment for the financial years from 2015 to 2017 and the zakat 
differences due under this assessment amounted to 2,520,796 Saudi Riyals, The company paid an 105,573 ri-yals, which 
represents the items not objected to, and the company submitted an objection at 12/20/2020 and The Au-thority rejected 
the objection on February 11, 2021, and the objection was escalated to the General Secretariat of the Tax Committees. 
 
The company obtained the zakat assessment for the years 2019 AD and 2020 on 10/5/2020, according to which the 
company was entitled to a zakat difference in the amount of 314,821 Riyals and 623,690 Saudi Riyals, respectively. The 
company agreed to that assessment and paid the difference. 
 
The Arab Company for Security and Safety Services - AMNCO (subsidiary) 
 
The company has committed to submit its zakat returns until the end of the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2020 AD 
and obtained the final zakat certificate valid until April 30, 2022. 
 
The company obtained the zakat assessments for the financial years from 2008 to 2015. The assessment and objection 
file were closed and the company paid the due zakat differences. 
 
On 01/04/2022, the company received a request for data from the Examination and Assessment Department for the fiscal 
year 2016. The company responded to the data request and the assessment has not been issued to date. 
 
Smart City Solutions for Communications and Information Technology - (a subsidiary of the Arab Company for 
Security and Safety Services - AMNCO) 
 
The company submitted its zakat returns until the year ended on December 31, 2020, and the company obtained a final 
certificate valid until 04/30/2022. The company did not receive any zakat or tax assessments from the Zakat, Tax and 
Customs Authority. 
 
AMNCO Facilities Management Company - (a subsidiary of the Arab Company for Security and Safety Services 
- AMNCO) 
 
The company submitted its zakat returns until the year ended on December 31, 2020, and obtained a certificate valid until 
April 30, 2022. 
 
The company obtained zakat assessments for the financial years from 2006 AD to 2016. The assessment file was closed, 
and the company paid the due zakat differences. 
 
On September 17, 2020, the company received a Zakat assessment for the year 2018, amounting to 35,508 Riyals. The 
company submitted an objection to the full amount and the Authority approved the objection. 
 
During the month of September 2021, the Zakat assessment was re-assessed by the Authority for the years 2017, 2019 
and 2020, with a total of 53,218 Saudi Riyals. 
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21. Zakat provision (continued) 
 
A) Zakat status (continued) 
 
Abeen Healthcare Co . ± (subsidiary) 
 
The company submitted the zakat declaration for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2020 and obtained a final 
certificate valid until April 30, 2022, and the company did not receive any zakat assessments from the Zakat, Tax and 
Customs Authority. 
 
Batic Real Estate ± (subsidiary) 
 
The company submitted the zakat declaration for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2020, and the company obtained 
a final certificate valid until 30/4/2022, and the company obtained the zakat assessment for the year 2020 AD as part of 
the consolidated zakat return with the BATC Company. The company settled the link with the Zakat, Tax and Customs 
Authority. 
 
6DXGL�7UDQVSRUW�DQG�,QYHVWPHQW�³0XEUDG´�± (subsidiary) 
 
The company submitted its returns to the General Authority of Zakat and Income until the year ended on December 31, 
2020 AD and obtained a certificate from the Authority valid until April 30, 2022 AD 
 
The company submits an information declaration only starting from the year 2020 AD based on the approval of the Za-
kat, Tax and Customs Authority, and it calculates zakat within the consolidated declaration that it submits BATC Con-
solidated Company. 
 
The company received the zakat assessments for the period from July 30, 2017 AD to December 31, 2018. The differ-
ence in zakat and withholding tax was paid in the amount of 59,607 Saudi riyals.  
 
The company obtained the zakat assessment for the year 2020 AD as part of the consolidated declaration with BATIC, 
and the company settled the assessment with the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority. 
 
Medical Bridges Company- (a subsidiary of ABEEN healthcare Co) 
 
The company submitted its zakat declaration for the financial period ending on Safar 25, 1442 AH and obtained a final 
zakat certificate valid until 25 Jumada al-Thani 1443 AH corresponding to January 28, 2022 AD, before being transferred 
to Medical Bridges Company Company. The financial statements ending on December 31, 2021 AD are the first financial 
statements of the company. 
 
B)  Zakat movement provision 
 
 2021  2020 
1 January ���������   5,027,342 
Charged for the year� ���������  6,265,582 
Paid during the year�� �����������   �����������  
31 December ���������  6,306,107 

 
22. Balances and transactions with related parties 
 
The related parties consist of senior management employees, members of the board of directors, and members of com-
mittees, in which the members of the board of directors or the employees of senior management, directly or indirectly, 
have a significant influence. The group has, during the normal course of business, concluded many transactions with the 
related parties. These transactions were concluded in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions.  
 

Significant transactions with related parties   2021  2020 
Remunerations to members of the Board of Directors and committees �������  725,000 
Allowance for attending Board and Committee and remuneration of secre-
taries �������  237,000 

 
Compensation of senior management personnel  2021  2020 
Short-term salaries and benefits  5,838,769  4,465,400 
End of service benefits  193,008  152,276 
Total compensation for senior management  6,031,777  4,617,676 
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23. Obligation under the Service Concession Agreement 
 
The current and non-current portion of the obligation under the Service Concession Agreement is as follows: 

 2021  2020 
Balance at December 31 ���,007,732  - 
Addition during the year 139,980,174  199,970,605 
Finance cost 6,373,129  1,037,605 
The rolling part is deducted (17,524,784)  - 
Balance as at 31 December  �����������  ����������� 
Less: Current Part (12,232,440)  (4,557,850) 
Non-current part �����������  ����������� 

 
Below are the maturities of obligation under service concession arrangement: 
   

 

 

For the 
year Ended 
31 Decem-
ber 2021  

For the year 
Ended 31 De-
cember 2020 

One year   12,232,440  4,557,850 
From one to five years  104,405,602  63,013,229 
More than Five years  213,108,209  133,463,653 
  329,746,251  201,007,732 

 
24. Revenue 
 
Revenue classification 

Geographical revenue Geographical area  2021  2020 
      
Security guard Local  �����������  160,253,408 
ATM feeding Local  �����������  129,437,311 
Supply of medical equipment Local  -  82,353,457 
Transport Local  ����������  65,977,536 
Transferring money, counting and sorting 
money and correspondence Local  

����������  
54,483,114 

Maintenance and operating Local  ����������  10,376,352 
Investment property Local  ���������  3,703,017 
smart parking Local  ����������  808,564 
Equipment and construction revenues (Note 24-
1) Local  

����������  
19,073,163 

Home Care Local  �������  � 
Other and settlements Local  �����������   �����������  
Total   �����������  516,927,771 
 
Revenue recognition timing 
 

  For the year Ended 31 December 
  2021  2020 
Point in time  220,773,323  199,498,627 
Overtime  237,995,582  307,894,132 
Equipment and construction revenues  25,871,252  19,073,163 
Others  (9,811,139)  (9,538,151) 
Total  474,828,927  516,927,771 
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24. Revenue (continued) 
 
 24-2 Equipment and construction revenues, and processing and construction costs 
 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2021 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2020 

Equipment and construction revenues ����������  ���������� 
Equipment and construction costs ������������   (19,073,163) 

 
$FFRUGLQJ� WR� WKH� LQWHUSUHWDWLRQ� RI� WKH� ,QWHUQDWLRQDO� )LQDQFLDO� 5HSRUWLQJ� ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQV� &RPPLWWHH� 1R�� ��� ³6HUYLFH�
&RQFHVVLRQ�$JUHHPHQWV´��WKH�FRPSDQ\�UHFRUGHG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�VXSSO\�UHYHQXHV�RI�25.9 million Saudi Riyals (2020 AD: 
14.5 million Saudi Riyals) on the supply and construction of the smart parking project in the Eastern Province. The 
HTXLSPHQW�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�UHYHQXHV�UHSUHVHQW�WKH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�WKH�SURMHFW¶V�VXSSO\�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�VHUYLFHV��:KHUHDV��
the fair value of the supply aQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�VHUYLFHV�SURYLGHG�LQ�WKH�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�HVWLPDWH�DSSUR[LPDWHV�WKH�FRVW�RI�WKH�
equipment and construction. 
 
25. Cost of revenue 
 

 
For the year ended 
31 December 2021 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2020 

    
Salaries and wages and equivalents �����������  ����������� 
Cost of goods sold ± Al Shifa Tecnology �  ���������� 
Operational Depreciation 30,145,482  27,860,212 
Amortization ����������  ��������� 
Spare parts and maintenance ���������  ��������� 
Consumables and equipment and supplies ����������  ���������� 
Fuel and oils ����������  ���������� 
Customer clearance  �������  ��������� 
Medical insurance  ���������  ��������� 
Insurance - Fleet, goods and real estate ���������  ��������� 
Feedback and confirmation fees ���������  ��������� 
Transport rental ���������  ��������� 
Rents ���������  ��������� 
Other  29,509,607  22,222,203 
 �����������  ����������0 

 
26. Other (loss) / income 
 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2021 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2020 

    
Collected bad debts �  2,146,799 
Expenses of acquiring companies �����������   � 
Others ����������   281,321 
 ���������   2,428,120 

 
27. General and administrative expenses 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2021 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2020 

    
Salaries and wages and equivalents ����������  ���������� 
Professional and consultations expenses ���������  ��������� 
Rents �������  ��������� 
Remuneration for members of the Board of Directors and allow-
ance to attend sessions ���������  ������� 
Depreciation and amortization ���������  ��������� 
Shareholder registry fees �������  ������� 
Medical insurance ���������  ��������� 
Others ���������  ��������� 
 ����������   44,651,379 
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28. Finance costs 

 For the year ended 
31 December 2021 

 For the year ended 31 
December 2020 

    
Finance expenses bank facilities  ���������  3,476,840 
Obligation under the service concession agreement ���������  ��������� 
Interest expenses on leases liabilities �������   181,564 
 ����������   4,695,531 

29. Restatements 
 
During the current fiscal year, the accounting treatment related to the franchise rights of the smart parking project in one 
of its subsidiaries was changed. The interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Standards Committee for IFRS 
���³6HUYLFH�)UDQFKLVH�$UUDQJHPHQWV´�ZHUH�DSSOLHG��DQG�DV�D� UHVXOW��DGMXVWPHQWV� UHODWHG� WR�SUHYLRXV�\HDUV�ZHUH�PDGH��
Accordingly, only the comparative figures appearing in the financial statements were modified. As follows: 
 
A) Impact on statement of financial position items: 

 
B) Impact on statement of comprehensive income items: 

 
30. Segment information 
 
The Group's management has defined the operational sectors based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors on 
the basis of which strategic decisions are taken. For administrative purposes, the group is organized into eight business 
units based on their services, and the following are the operating Segments of the group: 
 
Transportation Segment 
 
The transport Segment is represented in the transportation of goods and missions for a fee on the Kingdom's land roads, 
car and trailer rental services, rental of cold stores, fuel stations and maintenance workshops, and the purchase, sale and 
maintenance of equipment and machinery related to road transport. 
 
Real estate Segment 
 
The real estate Segment is represented in buying and selling lands and constructing buildings on them and investing them 
by sale or rent for the benefit of the group and establishing and operating commercial and industrial projects. There was 
no movement in the real estate Segment during the year, and therefore the sectoral information related to the real estate 
Segment was not shown in the table below. 
 

 Balance at 
31/12/2020  

Before restatement 

 

Restatement 

 Balance at 
31/12/2020  

After restatement  
Property and equipment 202,608,669  (4,443,028)  198,165,641 
intangible assets ����������  �����������  ����������� 
Projects under implementation ����������  ������������   � 
Right-of-use assets �����������  �������������   ��������� 
Prepaid expenses and other debit bal-
ances ����������  ����������  ���������� 

Retained earnings ����������  ���������  ���������� 
Obligation under the service conces-
sion agreement - non-current �  �����������  ����������� 

Lease commitment - non-current por-
tion �����������  �������������   ��������� 

Commitment under  service conces-
sion agreement  - current �  ���������  ��������� 

Lease commitment ± current portion ���������  �����������   ��������� 

 Balance at 
31/12/2020  

Before restatement 

 

Restatement 

 
Balance at 31/12/2020  

After restatement  
Revenues �����������  ����������  ����������� 
Cost of revenue �������������   ������������   (456,571,140) 
General and administrative expenses ������������   ��������   (44,651,379) 
Financing costs �����������   ���������  �����������  
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30. Segment information (continued) 
 
6HFXULW\�JXDUGV¶�Segment 
 
It includes providing security guards and shift services to banks and companies. 
 
ATM feeding 
 
It includes feeding and maintenance services for banks' ATMs. 
 
Insurance money transfer Segment 
 
It includes transportation and insurance services for the transfer of money and valuables. 
 
Counting and sorting of money and correspondence Segment 
 
It includes money counting and sorting services and postal correspondence. 
 
Maintenance and operation Segment 
 
It includes maintenance and operation of buildings, property management and marketing for others 
 
There were no inter-Segment sales during the period. Management monitors the operating results of its business units 
separately for the purpose of making decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment per-
formance is evaluated based on profit or loss from operations and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Smart Parking Segment 
 
Including renting parking spaces for others 
 
Medical equipment supply Segment 
 
It includes the supply of medical equipment to others. 
 
Home medical services and physiotherapy sector 
 
It includes providing home medical services and physiotherapy for individuals and for others. 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss from opera-
tions and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the interim condensed consolidated financial state-
ments.
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30. Segment information (continue) 
 
7KH�WDEOH�EHORZ�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�UHYHQXHV�DQG�FRVWV�IRU�HDFK�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�Segments, as well as their assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 

 
Investment 
property 

Transporta-
tion sector 

Security guard 
sector 

ATM feeding 
sector 

Secured money 
transfer and 

correspondence 
sector 

Maintenance 
and opera-
tion sector 

Smart park-
ing solutions 

Supply of 
medical equip-

ment 
Home medical 

services 
Other and set-

tlements Total 
            

Revenue�� ��������� ���������� ����������� ����������� ���������� ���������� ���������� - ������� (9,811,139) ����������� 
Cost of Revenue �����������  ������������  �������������  �������������  ������������  ������������  ������������  ���������  �����������  ��������� �������������  
Gross profit ��������7 ��������� ���������� 18,062,091 ��������5 ��������� ������5 ���������  ���������  �����������  ���������� 
            
Total assets 579,468,624 ����������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ����������� ��������� ������� (396,678,143) ����������� 
Total liabilities ����������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ����������� ��������� ��������� (89,746,363) ����������� 

 
7KH�WDEOH�EHORZ�UHSUHVHQWV�WKH�UHYHQXHV�DQG�FRVWV�IRU�HDFK�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�Segments, as well as their assets and liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2020 
 

 
Investment 

property 
Transportation 

sector 
Security guard 

sector 
ATM feeding 

sector 

Secured money 
transfer and 

correspondence 
sector 

Maintenance 
and operation 

sector 
Smart parking 

solutions 
Supply of med-
ical equipment 

Other and set-
tlements Total 

           
Revenue��  3,703,017  65,977,536  160,253,408   129,437,311   54,483,114  10,376,352 19,881,727 82,353,457 �����������  516,927,771 
Cost of Reve-
nue  (1,366,736)  (58,174,404) �������������  (115,511,761)  (47,310,430) �����������  ������������  ������������  7,932,12� 

�������������  

Gross profit  2,336,281   7,803,132  12,309,129 13,925,550  7,172,684  1,691,243 �����������  17,986,464 �����������  60,356,631 
           
Total assets  41,236,189   158,675,512   57,035,666  81,676,171  43,800,647  4,829,779 255,814,400 17,327,270 193,321,61� 853,717,24� 
Total liabilities  30,600,000   62,493,425   26,785,479  26,755,755  13,796,643  3,353,722 263,510,493 955,943 50,766,396 479,017,856 
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30. Segment information (continue) 
 

 
For the year 
ended 31 De-
cember 2021 

 For the year 
ended 31 De-
cember 2020 

    
Gross profit from recorded segment 48,410,449  ���������� 
Undistributed amount    
General and administrative expenses ������������   ������������  
Gain from sale of property and equipment �������  276,869 
(Reversal) Expected credit loss allowance  ���������  ������������  
Unrealized gain form investment FVPL �������  � 
Dividend revenue form investment FVPL �������  90,000 
Other revenue / expenses, net  ���������   2,428,120 
Finance cost ������������   �����������  
Total Undistributed Amounts ������������   ������������  
Net loss before Zakat ������������   �����������  

 
31.  Loss per share 
 
Basic (loss) / profit per share versus loss or profit related to ordinary shares is computed by dividing the net loss or profit 
for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year. The (loss) earnings in diluted shares is similar to the basic (loss) / earnings per share as the company does not 
have any convertible shares. 
 

 

For the year 
ended 31 

December 
2021 

 For the year 
ended 31 
December 

2020 
    
Net loss for the year �����������   ������������  
Weighted average number of common shares to calculate the basic loss per share 30,000,000  30,000,000 
Loss or profit of basic and diluted earnings per share of net loss for the year ������    (0.39) 

 
32. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments 
 
As at December 31, 2021, the Group has contingent liabilities in the form of bank guarantees amounting to SR 107.1 
million issued in the normal course of business (December 31, 2020: SR 101.7 million). The bank guarantees as on 
December 31, 2021 include an amount of 65 million Saudi Riyals issued to the Eastern Province Municipality in exchange 
for the lease contract (December 31, 2020: 65 million Saudi Riyals) and all have expiration dates during the year 2021 
AD, the Group has capital commitments amounting to 14,434,837 represented in contracts for the purchase of property 
and equipment represented in the equipment and devices for establishing and operating the project. 
 
33. Statutory reserve 
 
In accordance with the regulations of FRPSDQLHV�DQG�FRPSDQ\¶V�E\- Law, (10%) of the annual net profits is set aside to 
form the statutory reserve for the company. It is permissible to discontinue this reserve when the aforementioned reserve 
reaches (30%) of the paid-up capital. 
 
34. Financial instruments and risk management 
 
The Group is exposed through its activities to various financial risks, which are: market risk (which includes foreign 
exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk for cash flows and fair value), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management 
assesses risks for each of these risks. The risk management program generally focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
market conditions and aims to limit the potential negative effects of these risks on the group's financial performance. 
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Fair value risk 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on the quoted market prices on the date of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. The market is considered an active market if the announced prices are avail-
able and regularly available from the money markets, agents, brokers, industrial unions, pricing services companies, or 
supervisory bodies, as those prices represent actual and regularly repeated transactions in the market concluded on a 
purely commercial basis. The quoted market prices used for the firm's financial assets are the current ask prices. These 
tools are included within the first level. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments not traded in active markets is based on valuation techniques. These methods work 
to achieve the maximum benefit from available observable market data and rely on the lowest possible amount of esti-
mates developed by the facility. If all the important data required to measure the fair value of instruments are observable 
data, then these instruments are included within the second level, and if one or more of the significant data is not based 
on observable market data, the instruments are included within the third level. 
 
The following table presents an analysis of the financial instruments carried at fair value in terms of the valuation method.  
 
The following are the different levels of evaluation: 
 
Level 1: market prices (unadjusted) prevailing in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: the data other than the quoted prices included in the first level that are noticeable with regard to assets or liabil-
ities, whether direct (which is prices) or indirect (which is derived from prices). 
 
Level 3: Valuation techniques in which all the inputs used have a significant effect on the recorded fair value but are not 
based on observable market information (that is, unobservable inputs). 
 

Investment at FVPL Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
As at 31 December 2021     
Shares at ³7UXck-LQ´ � � 1,742,704 1,742,704 
United Dairy Farm Co. � � 300,000 300,000 
Investments at FVPL - 10,930,023 - 10,930,023 

 � ��,930,023 2,042,704 ���������� 
 

Investment at FVPL Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
As at 31 December 2020     
6KDUHV�DW�³7UXck-LQ´ � � 1,742,704 1,742,704 
United Dairy Farm Co. � � 300,000 300,000 

 � � 2,042,704 2,042,704 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
The company does not face any significant exposure to foreign currency risk as the majority of its transactions are in 
Saudi Riyals. 
 
Credit risk 
 
It is the risk of the inability of other parties to fulfill their obligations towards the group, which leads to the group incurring 
a financial loss. Financial instruments that may expose the group to debt concentration risk consist mainly of cash balances 
and accounts receivable. The group deposits its cash balances in a number of creditworthy financial institutions. It pursues 
a policy to limit the size of its deposits deposited in each financial institution, and the group does not believe that there 
are significant risks of inefficiency in these financial institutions. 
 
The creditworthiness of clients and other trade receivables is assessed according to criteria established by the group before 
entering into contracts and other arrangements. Also, receivables of all kinds are subject to regular monitoring. The max-
imum exposure to credit risk at year end represents the carrying value of each class of financial assets. 
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Liquidity risk 
 
It is the risk that the group will encounter difficulties in obtaining funds to meet the liabilities associated with financial 
instruments. Liquidity is managed by regularly checking that it is available in sufficient amounts to meet any future 
liabilities. 
 
Liquidity risk management is carried out by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, providing financing 
through an adequate amount of binding credit facilities, and the ability to liquidate market positions. Given the nature of 
the group's business, the group aims to maintain the flexibility of the financing process by providing committing credit 
channels. 
 
The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operating expenses; This excludes the potential 
impact of extreme conditions that cannot be reasonably anticipated such as natural disasters. 
 
The Group does not consider it to be exposed to significant liquidity risk and believes it will be able to meet it as soon as 
it becomes due for payment. 
 
The following table summarizes the maturities of the group's undiscounted financial liabilities based on undiscounted 
contractual payments as of December 31, 2021. 
 

 As at 31 December 2021 

 
Less than 1 

year  
From 1 year 

to 5 years 
 More than 

5 years  
 

Total 
Trade payable and other creditor ����������  -  -  ���������� 
6KDUHKROGHU¶V�GXHV ����������  -  -  ���������� 
Loans �����������  ����������  -  ����������� 
Notes payable ���������  ���������  -  ��������� 

 
 As at 31 December 2020 

 
Less than 1 

year  
From 1 year 
to 5 years 

 More than 
5 years  

 
Total 

Trade payable and other creditor 45,742,628  �  �  45,742,628 
6KDUHKROGHU¶V�GXHV 18,893,933  �  �  18,893,933 
Loans 55,894,203  94,144,894  -  150,039,097 
Notes payable 4,748,400  ���������  �  13,058,100 

 
Interest price risk 
 
Financial instruments are exposed to the risk of changes in value as a result of changes in commission rates for their 
financial assets and liabilities with variable commission rates. Actual commission rates and periods during which financial 
assets and liabilities are re-priced or matured have been referred to in the related notes. 
 
The following table shows the effect of the sensitivity of a possible reasonable change in interest rates on the profit of the 
group through the effect of changing the borrowing commission rate, with the other variables constant, as there is no 
effect on the comprehensive income: 
 

The potential impact 
on consolidated    

comprehensive in-
come  Balance  

Increase (decrease) 
in commission rate   

      31 December 2021 
��������  ����������  ����  Long-term loan 

 
The potential impact 

on consolidated    
comprehensive in-

come  Balance  
Increase (decrease) 
in commission rate   

      31 December 2020 
��������  94,144,894  ����  Long-term loan 
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Risk management 

 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to protect the Group’s ability to continue operating on a commercial 

basis with the objective of providing returns to shareholders. Capital is the equity that belongs to the shareholders of the 

company. The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to support its business and maximize shareholder 

value. 

 

It is the policy of the Board of Directors to maintain a strong capital base that preserves investor, creditor and market 

confidence and sustaining future business development. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments 

to it in light of changes in economic conditions. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, and the Board of 

Directors monitors the level of dividends to shareholders. 

 

35. Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 

The acquisition was calculated using the acquisition method under IFRS 3 - Business Combinations (the “Standard”) 

with Abeen Healthcare Company being the acquiring party and Medical Bridges  Company being the acquired party. 

As required by the standard, Abeen healthcare Company is in the process of allocating the purchase consideration for 

identifiable assets and liabilities up to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, Abeen 

healthcare Company has calculated the acquisition based on the temporary fair values of the acquired assets and 

liabilities as on the date of acquisition, as independent evaluations have not been completed. The adjustment to these 

provisional values will be completed within twelve months from the date of acquisition as permitted by the standard.  

The Company is in the process of making a comprehensive allocation of the purchase price, which is expected to be 

completed within twelve months from the date of acquisition and will focus, without limitation, on the completion of 

valuation adjustments on the following: 

- recognition of intangible assets, 

- property and equipment, 

- Recognition of other financial and non-financial assets and liabilities, 

 

The initial purchase price allocation is included in the consolidated financial statements. Subsequent adjustments will 

occur during the measurement period when the company completes its estimate of the fair values of the assets acquired 

and the liabilities assumed. Accounting for the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities acquired from Medical 

Bridges Company is provisional due to the inherent complexity and discretion associated with identifying intangible 

assets and determining the fair value of intangible assets and items included in the statement of financial position. 

 

Fair value   

   

148,486  Property and equipment, net 

3,304  Intangible assets, net  

174,358  Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

32,719  Trade receivables 

84,917  Cash and cash equivalents 

(88,359 )   Employee post-employment benefits 

(89,511 )   Trade payables 

(1,508,333 )   Due to a related party 

(9232,29 )   Accrued expenses and other payables 

(1,474,718 )   Total of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 

1,524,718  Goodwill  

50,000  Total  

  Net cash used generated from the acquisition 

50,000  Accrued amounts 

(84,917 )   Cash and cash equivalents 

(34,917 )   Total 
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36. Subsequent events 

 

- On January 13, 2022, Batic Company was completed the capital increase of from 300 million riyals to 600 

million through rights issue shares, and the proceeds of the capital increase were received in the company’s 

account. On January 17, 2022, the company modified its articles of association to reflect the company’s capital 

after Increase. 

- On January 13, the company repaid its short-term credit facility agreement with a local bank, by total amount 

140,000,000 Saudi Riyals 

- On January 13, 2022, BATIC signed an agreement to purchase the total of the shares owned by Hollol zakiah in 

the capital of the Smart City Solutions and Information Technology Company (a subsidiary company) until the 

date of this FS The deal is Still not completed. 

- On March 09, 2022, the BATIC Company signed a memorandum of understanding to acquire all of the owners' 

shares in Afkar Logistics Company by its subsidiary (the Saudi Transport and Investment Company - Mubarrad) 

and the duration of this memorandum is 6 months from the date of signing the memorandum of understanding. 

 

37. Comparative figures 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's classifications. 

 

38. Approval of the consolidated financial statements 

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the company's board of directors on 24 March 2022 (corre-

sponding to 21 Shaaban 1443). 


